The author(s) shown below used Federal funds provided by the U.S. Department of Justice and prepared the following final report:

Document Title:	Survey of Practitioners to Assess the Local Impact of Transnational Crime, Task Order Final Report
Author(s):	Michael Shively; Dana Hunt; Sarah Kuck; Jazmin Kellis
Document No.:	217587
Date Received:	March 2007
Award Number:	99-C-008 T005

This report has not been published by the U.S. Department of Justice. To provide better customer service, NCJRS has made this Federallyfunded grant final report available electronically in addition to traditional paper copies.

> Opinions or points of view expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice.

ANALYTIC SUPPORT PROGRAM CONTRACT:

Survey of Practitioners to Assess the Local Impact of Transnational Crime, Task Order

Final Report

Contract #99-C-008 T005

December, 2003

Prepared for Ms. Marvene O'Rourke Drugs, Crime and International Division National Institute of Justice Office of Justice Programs 810 Seventh Street, NW Washington, DC 20531

Prepared by Michael Shively Dana Hunt Sarah Kuck Jazmin Kellis

Executive Summary

With the recent terrorist attacks on America and high profile cases of international computer crime and illegal trafficking in drugs and other goods, the Nation's law enforcement agencies are acutely aware of the imminent challenge of dealing with transnational criminal and terrorist organizations. In the project described in this report, NIJ sought to develop an exploratory, national survey to obtain data on transnational crime activity, perceptions of the problems these activities pose for local law enforcement and the resources needed to address these problems, and interagency communication and collaboration. Due to resource limitations, this report is restricted to a review of the literature, a description of research method development and data collection, and a descriptive overview of responses to the survey.

Key design features of the survey

- Data were collected from three sub samples of agencies:
 - 152 local law enforcement agencies, randomly sampled from among all those in the U.S. with 50 or more sworn officers.
 - 20 state police departments
 - 12 of the primary police departments from the core cities of the 25 largest U.S. metropolitan areas.
- Across all three sub samples the response rate was 74 percent. The greatest success was with the sub sample for which a good response rate is most critical. We completed 152 interviews out of the random sample of 175 agencies, for a response rate of 87 percent.
- Interviews were completed with at least one agency (either state or local) from 43 of the 50 states. All regions of the country are represented, including all coastal and border areas considered at high risk as points of entry for illicit international trafficking and terrorism.
- Respondents within agencies were upper-level command staff in city, county, and state law enforcement agencies and departments.
- The survey addressed: (1) Perceptions of trends and severity of local transnational crime; (2) level of criminal activity; (3) local resources devoted to such crimes; (4) cooperation among agencies; and (5) perceived resources needs.
- While opportunities were provided to discuss any type of transnational crime, the survey featured examination of four major categories: (1) illicit trafficking in humans and goods; (2) illegal immigration, (3) computer crimes, and (4) terrorism (referred to as crimes related to homeland security for reasons explained in the report).

Key findings:

- Law enforcement considered transnational crime to be a substantial and growing problem in most jurisdictions.
- In most locales, one or two types of transnational crime stand out as causing concern and generating law enforcement activity.
- Local law enforcement considered computer crime to be widespread and rapidly increasing, and keeping up with the technology and training necessary to prevent and investigate such crimes a pressing need.
- There is a significant level of communication and cooperation among law enforcement agencies across different levels of government; cooperation and communication among agencies are driven primarily by local crime issues, and by personal and historic relationships with agencies.
- Most respondents felt their agency was at least adequately prepared to deal with transnational crime.
- The most pressing resource needs are equipment, training, and personnel, while only modest increases in cooperation and collaboration are considered necessary to adequately address transnational crime.
- There was widespread unrest over "unfunded mandates" to do more for homeland security, while resource cuts are affecting essential local law enforcement functions.
- Some large city police departments are frustrated by perceived federal inaction and have started their own antiterrorism units.

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Background	2
Method	25
Development	25
Sampling	27
Data Collection	29
Results	33
Perceived Seriousness of Local Transnational Crime Problem	33
Level of Transnational Crime Activity	36
Local Law Enforcement Resources Devoted to Transnational Crime	39
Collaboration and Communication with Other Law Enforcement Agencies	40
Perceived Resource Needs	45
References	46
Tables and Figures	
Appendix A: Survey Instrument	
Appendix B: Contact Letter	
Appendix C: Follow-up Letter	

Introduction

With the attack on American soil in 2001, the Nation's law enforcement agencies have been made acutely aware of the imminent challenge of dealing with transnational criminal and terrorist organizations. The dark side of a shrinking globe is the increased interconnections of the activities of organized criminal groups including terrorists and crimes such as money laundering, immigration violations, and trafficking in drugs and arms. Transnational crimes are estimated to reap profits of close to one trillion dollars annually (FBI, 2003) and reach into both the smallest and largest communities in the US. While the nature of the crimes is international, the first appearance of these activities is often at the state and local level of law enforcement.

Unfortunately, little is known about what the nearly 17,000 state and local law enforcement agencies across the country are seeing, what they are doing to coordinate efforts, and what resources they have and need to meet the challenge. In response to this critical need for information, the National Institute of Justice commissioned a survey of law enforcement agencies to examine daily demands on "first responders." The goal of the survey was to gather information regarding:

- Perceptions of the extent of local problems with transnational crimes (terrorism, money laundering, drug trafficking, trafficking in persons, weapons, identity materials)
- Level of transnational criminal activity
- Local resources devoted to preventing and responding to transnational crimes
- Extent of cooperation among local, state, federal and foreign government agencies
- Perception of resource needs

This report reviews the results of the NIJ survey. The following section provides some background on the variety of transnational crime. Subsequent sections address methods, sampling and data collection activities, and survey findings, and conclusions.

Background

Transnational crimes are defined by the United Nations as "offenses whose inception, prevention, and/or direct or indirect effects involve more than one country" (United Nations, 1995). In the past, drug trafficking made up the bulk of transnational crimes with which U.S. state and local law enforcement came in contact. Over the last decade, however, the world has gotten smaller due to better transportation and the ever-increasing reach of communication technology, and new types of crime that reach across borders have appeared: high tech money laundering; trafficking in weapons, identity papers or cultural artifacts or exotic animals; trafficking in human beings; and terrorism. Just as travel and communications have made borders more fluid, they have made complex criminal enterprises that cross borders more common and more successful. "The enormous resources of transnational organized crime and greater expansion beyond major metropolitan and border areas mean that citizens increasingly are susceptible to their activities" (Shelley 1998).

As many crimes have now taken on "a global dimension" (Finckenauer, 2000), researchers and investigative authorities report that the nature of the criminal operations involved in transnational crimes differ from organized crime enterprises in the past (Godson and Williams, 1998). Many of the current international criminal operations appear to work in "networks" of individuals or groups rather than large, well-differentiated, on-going organizations that specialize in particular criminal areas. Newer groups expand and contract as needed, and while some specialize in particular goods (notably drugs), others are more dynamic, moving different products, making it hard to pin down activities or develop coherent investigations over time (Schlegel, 2000). Nigerian crime groups, for example, have been recognized for their financial criminal activities like credit card fraud, insurance fraud, counterfeiting, passport and visa theft as well as involvement in importation of heroin into the US (Schneider, Beare and Hill, 2002). The United Nations identifies types of persons or groups that traffic in human beings: "amateurs" who transport small numbers of persons sporadically; somewhat larger, organized criminal groups specializing in movements between one or two countries using well-known routes, and large, well organized, international trafficking networks often trafficking in many commodities. The latter group is characterized by sophisticated counterfeiting of documents, flexibility in the enterprise and complex communication networks (Savona, 1998). The first consists of "Mom and Pop" operations that may come together for a quick profit activity and disband just as quickly.

Researchers have also argued that understanding and developing strategies to address transnational crime requires a market-by-market analysis, as there is a great deal of variation in the issues involved between these crimes and even within them (Beare, 2000). Research investigating the Canadian drug trade found that even in the high levels of involvement in trafficking was characterized by individual entrepreneurs who moved between organizations or networks. Similar findings applied to Canadian credit card fraud organizations – diverse "criminal of participants … in terms of the sophistication, the tightness of the networks and in terms of the local vs. international dimension" (Bear 2000:4). The networks of criminals are the mechanism through which individual offenders and groups travel from the local level to the transnational level, though a clear organized structure and relationships may not always be apparent or known to the local portion of the network and may differ by the type of crime. By contrast, studies of cocaine trafficking from South America into the US reveal well organized, task differentiated groups that are relatively stable over time (Dishman, 2001).

Many of the organizations or networks that are responsible for transnational crime are located in areas of the globe in transition. Criminal groups may use the opportunity afforded by nations in development or chaos, where there are fewer resources and fewer regulations operating to interfere with their activities, such as areas of the former Soviet Union, Asia and Latin America. Colombian and Mexican drug cartels have developed regional and even global holds over aspects of the drug trade involving billions of dollars of business in complex systems of production and distribution. Organized operations in Eastern Europe, Brazil, South Africa and Southeast Asia also maintain a range of enterprises moving goods and people across borders (Godson and William 1998; Dishman, 2001).

As exotic as many transnational crimes appear, "local law enforcement is confronted with much more basic and mundane problems that affect its ability to respond to these offenses" (Schlegel, 2000:365), as all transnational crime has both a local and a global component. While the crime itself may originate in other jurisdictions, its face is a local one: a local prostitution ring, discovery of a local cache of stolen firearms, local theft of identity materials. Researchers have argued that by focusing attention (resources, legislative or regulatory actions) on the transnational component of the problem, policymakers may be ignoring the other major component, the lower level crimes that originate or are the endpoints of the transnational criminal activity (Beare, 2000). The most important issues facing local law enforcement regarding transnational crime are "not so much a function of geography as they are a function of the nature of the offenses themselves" (Schlegel, 2000:365); that is, they are organized, cross regulatory boundaries, often involve high tech skills to uncover and prosecute, and are in their own backyards.

Local law enforcement is not designed to respond to these "technologically and organizationally complex" crimes (Schlegel 2000:366), as they often lack the technological capability or specialized skills and resources needed. Nonetheless, they are often the point where the arrest is made and the investigation begins. The problems in responding can appear in all types and sizes of local law enforcement agencies. Smaller entities may have difficulty committing resources to the development of a group of investigators with the necessary skills to mount technologically challenging investigations. Even larger police agencies may be reluctant to expand their ranks to include persons with very different skill sets needed for these investigations, i.e., accountants, computer experts, and auditors (Schlegel, 2000). In a climate of tight local police budgets, releasing officers for special training or to serve on special units involved with transnational crime investigation is a luxury many departments may not have.

Transnational criminal prosecutions are also complex, time-consuming and highlight the challenges of multiple jurisdictions, multiple crimes in the same investigation, and coordination of often high tech data gathering tools. For example, a drug trafficking case can lead to investigations of money laundering, prostitution or identity fraud. While local law

enforcement may be responding to each element of the case, it may lack the resources and personnel to deal with sophisticated cases that are organizationally complex and rely on persons with expertise across many substantive areas (Schlegel, 2000). This type of case requires local law enforcement to rely on other agencies for assistance, most often-federal authorities or experts in a particular field. For example, police-to-police assistance policies cover work that officers can legally perform in their own countries or areas for other countries' police entities without a court order. The ability to offer or allow this assistance is based on the case involved. Most instances require "dual criminality," that is, the crime involved must be a crime in both countries, and requests for assistance are made through federal agencies or INTERPOL. Evidence can also be obtained through mutual assistance requests to other countries through the U.S. Department of Justice, Criminal Division, and Office of International Affairs, but success in obtaining information can depend on whether the US has a bilateral legal assistance treaty with the participating country (Culter, 1999). All of these elements of building a transnational case (or even the local part of that case) involve knowledge about methods of obtaining relevant information for an investigation and knowledge of resources not usually drawn upon by law enforcement: agencies regulating areas like construction, marine ports, financial services; utilization of tax fraud investigation used successfully against organized crime figures; systems involved in tracking financial transactions within nations and across borders. In addition, investigation and prosecution of transnational crimes often requires inter-organizational responses from law enforcement agencies that have no special expertise in solving regulatory conflicts that may exist across boundaries.

In response to the many calls for coordination of expertise and increased collaboration in identifying and prosecuting transnational crimes, many law enforcement agreements and task forces have sprung up, notably those related to terrorism. However, basic organizational barriers remain. For example, police agencies have relied historically on informal communication channels between departments or with other agencies (Benson and Cullen 1998) and may see external agencies as competitors or part of "turf battles" in an investigation. --- attitudes and practices that may be difficult to change. In the case of terrorism, federal and national security agencies have stepped in to take the lead in

antiterrorism investigations (Tully and Willoughby, 2002) and coordination of information sharing. However, the boundaries for crimes not directly linked on the surface to terrorism, like trafficking in persons or automobiles, are more fluid and the mechanism for information sharing still untried.

Transnational crime by its nature requires a multifaceted response involving international, national and local law enforcement efforts. This response is multi-jurisdictional, time intensive and requires familiarity with a variety of new systems and new partners. Surveys of first responders indicate concerns at the local level as to their readiness to meet the challenge. A Centers for Disease Control and Prevention study (Shenon, 2003) of 190 emergency workers in 40 cities across the nation reports that the majority of emergency responders feel under-prepared for terrorist attached. A similar study funded by the National Association of School Resource Officers found that 75% of school security officials felt that schools were inadequately protected. The Police Executive Research forum (PERF) conducted a survey of 25 police chiefs from large jurisdictions about their needs and capabilities in responding to domestic terrorism. This survey reports that chiefs felt that their greatest needs were for additional funding, information sharing, equipment, technology and access to information from federal partners (PEFF, 2000). Respondents felt that local enforcement had a major contribution to make in the anti terrorism effort by building on communities ties to gather intelligence, but that they needed more training to be prepared.

In a study conducted by The International Association of Chiefs of Police of 17,000 police agencies, of the 4500 responding entities, 90% reported that did not feel ready in the face of terrorist attack. Eighty percent of agencies reported trying to increase readiness by acquiring equipment, training and increasing staff, though the majority felt that they still did not have the appropriate equipment to prevent or respond to attack effectively --- better communications equipment, surveillance and tactical equipment. Other needs cited were for specialized training for line personnel and increased coordination with other entities.

In the sections that follow, we review briefly information regarding the major types of transnational crime. We have selected these crimes for discussion, as they are the most

frequently discussed in the study's survey of local law enforcement agencies. Transnational crime covers a vast territory in the criminal justice and homeland security literature.

Areas of Transnational Crime Addressed in This Survey

Transnational crimes appear in multiple forms, some linked in a common purpose like execution of a terrorist agenda and others operating simply to reap enormous profits. Some types of transnational crime included in the survey with police agencies are discussed below. They are not presented in any priority order.

Trafficking in humans and illegal immigration

In the past ten years trafficking in people has grown from a small business involving movement between regions to a global business estimated at \$7 billion a year. The Solicitor General of Canada estimates the money involved in trafficking and smuggling people only into Canada at \$120-400 million annually (IOM International Organization for Migration, July 1999). Human trafficking is defined as (Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act, P.L.106-386)¹:

a) Sex trafficking in which a commercial sex act is induced by force, fraud, coercion, or in which the person induced to perform such act has not attained 18 years of age; or, b) the recruitment, harboring, transportation, provision or obtaining of a person for labor or services, through the use of force, fraud or coercion for the purpose of subjection to involuntary servitude, peonage, debt bondage or slavery

The U.S. government estimates that at least 700,000 persons, often women and children, are trafficked each year across its borders (U.S. Department of State, 2001). Trafficking in persons is not a new phenomenon and has been called "a modern day form of slavery" (U.S.

¹ This definition differentiates the term from smuggling, which implies consent of the individual being moved across national boundaries.

Department of State, 2011:2). The contemporary versions of this problem, however, take on somewhat different forms. Trafficking can consist of persons, who are smuggled willingly across borders with promises of work or marriage, or it can involve coercion, either at the point of transit or after the trafficked individual has reached the destination. While the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) is involved in both coerced and voluntary smuggling, local law enforcement becomes involved when victims are involved in other crimes like prostitution, child labor violations or even traffic violations.

Modern day trafficking and smuggling victims fall into three general categories: agricultural migrant workers, women and children forced into prostitution and domestic or sweat shop workers (Webb, 2002). Migrant, sweatshop and domestic workers often appear on the surface as legal workers. However, closer inspection reveals workers who are indentured for long periods of time in repayment of passage or who have simply been forced into work. In other instances, women may apply for domestic positions, pay for illegal transport or enter into a promise of marriage and end up in the sex industry (Webb, 2002). Results of a sting operation in Canada in the late 1990s revealed a large number of Asian women sold into prostitution in the US to pay off a \$25-40,000 transport fee. The U.S. government estimates that 50,000 women and children are trafficked each year into the U.S. for purposes of sexual exploitation (Raymond and Hughes, 2001). In the late 1990s the Immigration and Naturalization Service reported that there were over 250 brothels in over 25 cities that were involved in trafficking women for sex work (Richard, 1999).

Smuggling migrants into the US to work in agricultural or garment industry sweatshops continues to be a significant problem as well as an international human rights issue. For example, in 1995 eighty Thai immigrants were found in a guarded compound in California sewing garments for some the US's top manufacturers; these workers had been working 17 hours a day, seven days a week for seven years. A 1999 study found that the source of many sweatshop workers found throughout California were the millions of undocumented immigrants entering the state each year. The report found that there were 120,000 people at work in garment sweatshops in Los Angeles alone (Taylor and Jamieson, 1999). While most

of these workers entered willingly, they were found to be operating under illegal terms of indenture or for absurdly low wages and in unsafe environments.

Trafficking in workers for coerced employment is another large transnational criminal operation. The State Department estimates that as many as 100,000 illegal Chinese immigrants were being smuggled into the U.S in the mid 1990s as well as hundreds of thousand of workers from other countries (U.S. Department of State, 1996). Legitimate work may be promised in exchange for passage into the U.S. or workers can be simply hijacked into servitude (Schloenhardt, 1999). Lack of legitimate documentation for being in the country adds to the control the trafficking organization or the employer holds over the worker and increases the worker's fear of local authorities.

Of the almost one million immigrants into the US each year, approximately one-third enter or remain illegally. Many are "overstays" of visas; others are simply illegal entrants. Smuggling persons across the US borders is a multi-million dollar industry. Eager immigrants often pay thousands of dollars to use the complex and often dangerous routes that attempt to avoid detection by INS or other officials. In addition, there are an estimated 100,000-150,000 mail order advertisements for brides to enter the country from Southeast Asia, the Philippines and the former Soviet Union. While many of these marriages are arranged by legitimate agencies, others are not.

Researchers and policymakers find that the extent of the problem is difficult to identify and the activities and nature of the organizations responsible hard to pinpoint. It does appear that the largest proportion of trafficked individuals is women and girl children and that they come from countries with unstable or transitional economies (United Nations, 1997). While in the past there was a focus on sexual exploitation of women and children in Southeast Asia, especially Thailand and the Philippines, there has been recent interest in areas of Latin America, Africa and Eastern Europe. European authorities estimates that 90% of trafficking victims in the European Union originated in Central and Eastern European states: Ukraine, Hungary, Czech Republic, Bulgaria, Poland, Romania, Russian and Albania. Other places

identified as source countries include Thailand, China, Vietnam, Ghana, Nigeria, Morocco, Brazil, Columbia and the Dominican Republic (Mameli, 2002:71).

Investigations have found that trafficking in human beings involves both large organized criminal groups as well as smaller less complex "Mom and Pop" operations (Schloenhardt, 1999). Professional smugglers in China known as "snakeheads" have been documented as operating sophisticated international operating (Chin 1998); Caldwell, Galster, Kanics and Steinzor (1997) report the role of larger, organized Russian criminal groups in trafficking women for the sex trade as have other researchers looking at organized activities in the Netherlands and Eastern Europe (Bruinsma and Meershoek (1997).

Penalties for human trafficking are less common than those for drug trafficking so that legal sanctions may not serve as the same deterrent. Sanctions also may apply to the victim making willingness to come forward limited. There are some laws. The comprehensive US Alien Smuggling Control Act (1999) defines the crimes involved in trafficking and details penalties for traffickers including forfeiture of properties. The Victims of Trafficking and violence Protection Act of 2000 provides individuals who have been victimized with the ability to remain in the US temporarily and to receive state assistance and enables law enforcement agencies with the ability to pursue offenders.

There are a number of national and international efforts to combat trafficking in people: The Migrant Smuggling and Trafficking in Persons Center US Department of State); Presidents Interagency Task Force to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons; USAID cross border partnership efforts; and Justice Department training of for federal prosecutors, INS personnel and FBI agents. The US Department of Justice civil Rights Division operates a Trafficking in Person and Worker Exploitation Task Force (TPWETF) that includes representatives from all major law enforcement and labor agencies. The Criminal Section of the Civil Rights Division has primary responsibility for the enforcement of all statutes related to involuntary servitude and in this role works with the FBI, INS and US Attorneys Offices to investigate and prosecute cases. The Criminal Section also operates outreach efforts to educate victims

of their rights and provide education and training to local law enforcement officers and prosecutors.

There are a number of barriers local law enforcement faces in investigations of these crimes. Inability to speak the native language of the country to which the victim has been trafficked and threats of deportation or jail used by traffickers often makes local investigations of these crimes difficult. Negative experiences victims may have had in their own country and lead to a general distrust of officials adding to communication problems (Webb, 2002). A 1999 study of international trafficking in women also found that "local police officers tend not to be very interested in investigating brothels, which is where much of the trafficking is occurring" (Richards, 1999:32). Finally, simply identifying individuals, as victims of trafficking can be problematic. Persons smuggled into the country illegally may not want to be found, even if they are in seriously disadvantaged circumstances. Fearful of legal reprisal or deportation, they may remain quiet when approached by police on other matters and stay undetected. Uncovering large numbers of person working in a sweatshop as occurred in the 1995 California case is a rarity. More often, local law enforcement may find prostitutes working in their area and not know whether this is a trafficking victim or a local prostitute. Working to establish her identity while she is in the safety of custody is a tricky business, as it involves initiating an investigation with INS and other federal agencies.

Weapons trafficking

It is estimated that over 60 countries produce illicit small arms and light weapons, i.e., automatic rifles, machine guns, small mortars, and shoulder fired rockets. The result is between 100 and 500 million such weapons in circulation worldwide (U.S. Department of State, 2002). These weapons are part of the trafficking in goods that make up the large illegal trade internationally. They are sold or bartered into the hands of criminals and terrorists and are often part of trafficking in other illegal goods such as drugs, diamonds or timber. Small lightweight weapons are in great demand worldwide as a wide range of customers use them: armed groups, militia, and individuals. They are small and relatively easy to conceal in smuggling. A UN report highlights the link between illegal weapons trafficking and other

illegal trafficking indicating that the same channels used to transfer other illegal goods are used to transfer weapons (UN, 1997).

The proliferation of small arms and light weapons is marked, particularly in areas of the world that are politically unstable like Sierra Leone, Kosovo and Colombia (McDonnell, 2001). There has been increasing interest in trafficking in small arms and weapons since the end of the Cold War as these weapons have been implicated in local conflicts around the world. It is estimated that since 1990, more than 4 million people have been killed with these weapons in either regional or intra-state warfare (U.S. Department of State 2001). The Institute for International Studies of South Africa reports that in the last 50 years Africa has suffered almost 6 million deaths attributable to small arms and light weapons (Calhoun, 2001). The primary source of these weapons is not newly made arms, but re-circulated stocks of military weapons and the sales of surplus arms through illegal or semi-legal channels (Peartree, 2001).

The U.S. is currently engaged in a number of activities worldwide to stop the trade in weapons, including numerous inter-country agreements on weapons and sponsorship of cross border initiatives to identify and limit arms trafficking. The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF) operates a unique program that traces the history of recovered guns, the National Tracing Center (NTC). The NTC tracks recovered crime guns for federal, state, local and international agencies using information about sales of guns, stolen guns and suspect guns. During 2000 the NTC processed more than 200,000 requests to trace suspect firearms including 18,000 from foreign sources (Holmes, 2001). Tracing begins when the center receives a request form from federal, state, local or international law enforcement agencies. The NTC stores data on multiple sales of firearms, stolen firearms and suspect guns and uses this information to determine ownership and source areas of illegal weapons. Based on information about the gun from the manufacturer, the center contacts the wholesaler or retailer to determine the identity of the owner or purchaser. This information can be passed back to the law enforcement agency in as little as 24 hours. The center follows the same processes to trace a gun in a foreign country that is linked to a US citizen. This is

one of the resources available to local law enforcement when weapons are uncovered as part of routine police work or special investigations.

Cyber crime

Cyber crime refers to a number of offenses committed to or with computers or communication systems. Experts point to two categories of offenses that make up cyber crimes (Hale, 2002): breaking into a computer or computer system to cause damage or illegally obtain information (hacking, sabotage); and using a computer in committing a crime, like dissemination of child pornography, identity theft, fraud or embezzlement. With more than 430 million Internet users, 150 million in the United States alone, the potential for crime via cyberspace is vast. Cyber crime costs approximately \$50 billion internationally and \$5 billion in the US annually (Hale 2002). Computers control the servers that make up critical infrastructure of the nation, including communications, banking and finance, transportation, water and electrical supplies and emergency responses. A study of 500 American businesses found that 98% of them had Internet sites and over half used the Internet for electronic commerce for marketing, advertising, public relations and transactions or information sharing (Hale 2002).

The annual Computer Security Institute/ FBI Computer Crime and Security Survey found that 90% of businesses surveyed had been victims of a computer security breach in the prior year and only 34% reported those breaches to law enforcement (Dick, 2002). The FBI identifies several sources of cyber crime. Inside destruction includes deletion of files, theft of secure information and internal destruction of internal systems. Outside hackers are another common source of cyber crimes. Hackers are computer experts who crack the security code or "hack" into a system for the purpose of stealing files, planting computer viruses, changing information or simply displaying the ability to get in to secure sties. Targets in the past have included private corporations (Yahoo, MCI, and AT&T), political organizations (NATO) and governmental entities (Department of Defense, the Senate Web page (Freeh, 2000).

While many computer crimes are the work of individuals, the FBI reports an increase of criminal groups using the Internet or invading computer systems. These groups may invade private systems such as banking or credit card companies as part of identity theft, selling the lifted data to national or international crime groups. The cyber crime potential for terrorists and foreign intelligence services is high. As early as the 1980s West German hackers invaded military and industry computers in several countries and stole information for resale to buyers from unfriendly nations. The terrorist group known as the Internet Black Tigers "attacked" the government servers of the embassies of the Sri Lankan government and an international crime group transferred over \$10 million from Citibank into accounts worldwide in the mid 1990s (Freeh, 2000).

There are a number of activities involved in cyber crime. According to the FBI, one million credit card numbers have been stolen by organized crime groups (Serio, 2002) and hundreds of companies have been targets of account theft or fraud. Phony stock companies or fraudulent offers for investments or products have sprung up throughout the Internet. In addition, "cyber stalking," or using the Internet or e-mail to stalk another person is estimated to involve thousands of stalkers. A growing part of cyber crime involves the use of the Internet for selling or transmitting child pornography. Sex offenders have repeatedly been uncovered through their solicitation of unwitting children in Internet chat rooms. Child advocacy organizations estimate that there are over 40,000 chat rooms where children can meet child predators and one in five children who use the computer chat rooms have been approached over the Internet by pedophiles; in addition many child character websites (Pokemon, My Little Pony) contain links to pornography sites (Anti-Child Porn Organization, 2003). For example, in 2001 state and federal investigation team dismantled a Texas based pornography ring that distributed photos, videotapes and offered children for sex to a subscriber base of 250,000 Internet users (Johnson, 2001). A similar ring was uncovered a year later involving 45 children and 37 adults across the country. In this case four foreign governments were involved in the investigation. (USA Today, 2002).

While the amount of cyber crime is increasing as more people and companies link to the Internet, only a small fraction of the crimes are reported or prosecuted. This is due in part to reticence of victims to come forward, particularly corporate victims who may feel that they may loose the support and confidence of customers if news of a breach in security is leaked. Experts also feel that it is due to "scarce resources, insufficient training and fear of technology, lack of public outcry and the police culture itself" (Hale, 2002:6). Officers are often not adequately trained in dealing with highly skilled hackers or highly technical systems used to track hackers and other cyber criminals. The FBI assists in this effort throughout National Infrastructure Protection and Computer Intrusion teams located in the FBI field offices as well as through partnerships with state and local law enforcement in other task forces on computer crimes.

Jurisdictional problems raised by cyber crime are significant. Victims and offenders may reside in multiple sites, including international locations, making coordination of investigations difficult. While domestic law enforcement can use search warrants or subpoena to collect evidence, such tools may not be available internationally. Extraditing offenders from other countries can also prove difficult, or even impossible if there are not comparable laws regarding cyber crime in those jurisdictions.

These jurisdictional problems become more complicated in the many cases where the offender is a juvenile, persons sometimes referred to as "computer delinquents" (Bowker, 2000:7) Typically, juvenile offenders are dealt with at the local level either through juvenile justice system resources or, if charged as an adult, adult correctional systems. In the case of cyber crimes, like hacking into companies or government agencies, juveniles can quickly become involved in multiple jurisdictions, even crossing international boundaries, and not fully comprehend the seriousness of their offenses. Juveniles have been involved in hacking into computers at the Pentagon and NASA, stealing passwords for an Internet provider, counterfeiting money on a home computer and shutting down airport runway lighting (Bowker, 2000).

Identity Theft

Identity fraud is another area of crime that often crosses national borders. It is an area of increasing concern to law enforcement for the role it plays in terrorist activities. Identity

theft involves the use of personal identifying information (Social Security number, credit cards, drivers license) to establish new credit lines or to utilize existing lines of credit in the name of the victim (ITRC, 2003). In addition, identity theft can include using a victim's information to avoid detection by the police or to establish a new life to evade law enforcement or creditors. This usage is of greatest concern to law enforcement sources involved with tracking terrorist activities, as changing identities by using legal or legitimate ones can make detection difficult.

Theft of identifying materials and the creation of fake identification using some piece of real identification or information is a burgeoning industry. In a recent survey (ITRC, 2003), 50% of victims had fake drivers license issued using their stolen information. With drivers licenses the primary source of identification by Americans, the existence of numerous fraudulent licenses make movement of criminals and/or terrorists far easier through such things as airport checkpoints.

Identity theft is a high profit, low risk crime. According to recent surveys of identify theft (ITRC, 2003) approximately 7 million people were victims of identify theft in from July 2002-July 2003, an increase of 80% over the prior year. The majority of victims find out about the theft through denial of credit, erroneous billing or collection agency notification. Though the average costs for prosecuting these cases is relatively low (estimates range from \$11,000-\$20,000), the average arrest rate in these cases is also low --- under 5%. The costs to the consumer and/or the credit companies, however, are high. Fraudulent charges on credit card thefts average more than \$90,000 per name used. In addition to running up bills, offenders also open additional credit lines using the stolen materials. Often identified through credit reporting agencies, the fraud then moves to the attention of local law enforcement. Eighty-seven percent of the victims surveyed by ITRC reported their identify theft to their local police agency; 53% reported to multiple agencies, as they were transferred from one to another while giving the police report, as agencies were often confused about jurisdiction.

Law enforcement often finds identify theft crimes frustrating to deal with: even a simple case can take more than 100 hours to investigate and difficult ones as much as 500 hours. (ITRC, 2003). In addition, cases require interaction with other governmental agencies like the IRS and the FBI, and can take several months to resolve. Since the average time between the occurrence of the theft and discovery is 1-6 months, the case may begin as a relatively "cold" one for law enforcement.

Drug Trafficking

It is estimated that American drug users spend \$63 billion dollars annually on illicit drugs (ONDCP, 2003). The bulk of the expenditures are for cocaine (\$36 billion), heroin (\$12 billion) and marijuana (\$10 billion). This translates into over 290 metric toms of cocaine brought into the US annually. The enormity of the demand for drugs, particularly those not produced in the US, make drug trafficking perhaps the most consistent and lucrative of all transnational crimes.

Who is involved in drug trafficking varies by which drug is being grown, produced and moved across national boundaries. Experts describe the traffic in heroin and cocaine as controlled by organized criminal networks related to each other through history and geography (Mueller, 2000). Authorities have successfully tracked and prosecuted Colombian cocaine and heroin producers tying their activities with Mexico, the Sicilian and Russian Mafias and other crime organizations in Europe. Similarly, Asian traffickers have been linked to Nigerian criminal groups for distribution into the US and Europe. Other drugs, like methamphetamine, Ecstasy and synthetic opiates operate through different trafficking routes and are either transported from Mexico and Europe or manufactured inside the US (DEA, 2002).

The US borders contain numerous routes of entry for imported illegal drugs. Over 400 million people enter annually on over 650,000 airline flights, in the 90,000 passenger ships docking at US ports and in the 116 million vehicles that cross land borders (DEA, 2002). Each of these venues offers considerable opportunity to traffic drugs into the US. The US/Mexico borders are a primary point of entry for drug shipments and it is estimated that

approximately 65% enter through these borders (DEA, 2002). While the borders, airports and other transshipment areas remain the focus of federal activity, local law enforcement deals daily with identification and seizure of drugs as they make their way to the user on the street.

In the past, drug trafficking organizations have been the most commonly encountered transnational criminal organizations, and systems of identifying and dealing with those offenders is well developed at the local enforcement level. Prior to the recent focus on terrorism, law enforcement has treated drug trafficking and terrorist activities as separate issues. However, ties between drug proceeds and terrorist funding have given rise to a new term, narco-terrorist. The DEA defines a narco-terrorist organization as "an organized group that is complicit in the activities of drug traffickers in order to further or fund, premeditated, politically motivated violence perpetrated against noncombatant targets with the intention to influence ... a government or group pf people" (DEA, 2003:14). Examples of narco-terrorist groups include organized groups in Afghanistan (a source country for opiate production), the Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Columbia (FARC), and Hezbollah. (DEA, 2003). The activities of narco-terrorists are somewhat different from the traditional activities associated with drug trafficking in that it is politically motivated and directed toward a larger goal than profit.

Trafficking in drugs has also become a cyber crime. Via the Internet, "rogue pharmacies" (Gaul and Flaherty, 2003) operate side by side with legitimate online pharmacies. In a recent case in Nevada an online distributor of narcotics had shipped five million doses of narcotics to customers, accounting for 10% of all hydrocodone sold in Nevada. In legitimate on line pharmacy procedures, patients submit prescriptions from their doctors and the pharmacy fills those orders at a reduced costs to the consumer. In rogue prescription sites, the customer either orders the drugs with no prescription or is connected briefly with doctors who write script without ever seeing the patient. The DEA has recently set up task forces to track this trade, but the extent of the problem is still unknown. Online efforts also tend to be highly mobile. State and federal agencies prosecuting pharmacy operations in Nevada found that records indicated that when a site closed in San Antonio, business moved to Las Vegas and eventually to Florida. In addition to the sites operating the US, there are a number of sites

selling tranquilizers, narcotics and other illegal prescription drugs offshore in Namibia, Thailand and Sri Lanka.

Illegal tobacco trafficking (avoiding taxes by transporting and reselling cigarettes) generates considerable money for criminal groups and was the subject of the International Conference on Illicit Tobacco Trade in 2002. The conference of 142 countries generated a number of recommendations to stop the trafficking and distribution of illegal tobacco products. The report concluded that, while an international problem, control of illegal tobacco trafficking begins with domestic action: tobacco labeling and production tracing, local monitoring of movement of products, training and technical assistance to local agencies in establishing legitimate demand thresholds, automated customs procedures and joint enforcement operations (Benton and Libertucci, 2002).

For example, a case involving smuggling cigarettes from North Carolina for sale in Michigan highlights the role local law enforcement plays as "first responders" to complex transitional crimes. Large quantities of cigarettes were legally purchased in North Carolina, where they are subjected to low sales tax, and transported to Michigan, where cigarettes carry an additional tax of 70 cents per pack. They were then illegally sold through complicit convenience stores at a substantial profit. While this could have been regarded as a case of domestic smuggling or tax evasion, a state-federal task force working in cooperation with Canadian intelligence traced the operation to Hezbollah, regarded by the State Department as one of the world's most dangerous terrorist organizations. The investigation, "Operation Smokescreen," revealed evidence of hundreds of thousands of dollars in illegal revenue generated simply from the tobacco sales. It also uncovered related overseas shipments of night vision devices, surveying equipment, global positioning systems, and other high tech equipment with obvious potential to facilitate terrorism (Damask, 2002).

While intelligence sharing and investigative capabilities in drug trafficking investigations has improved over the last few years through interagency task forces, joint operations and data sharing technology, there are still a need for timely information and unduplication of effort. The General Counterdrug Intelligence Plan commissioned in the late 1990s by federal law enforcement and the intelligence community to look at coordination of efforts in combating drug trafficking found that investigators at the operational level complained that they did not have adequate information or support from national resources. While drug investigators joined together for task force programs to increase local and regional cooperation, the report found insufficient coordination on a larger scale that increased the chances of jurisdictional dispute and funding competition (GCIP, 2000:8).

Multi-jurisdictional issues are not confined to international cases. For example, in September 2001 an investigation of marijuana trafficking and distribution by Texas based criminal organizations was initiated in two US DEA Field Divisions, El Paso and Chicago. The investigation revealed a large-scale transportation ring based in El Paso, but responsible for sending large shipments of marijuana to Chicago, Atlanta, and Kentucky. In the 11-month investigation authorities in four states seized over 25,000 pound of marijuana and \$1.2 million in cash. By the time the operation concluded it involved the local police departments of two small towns in Illinois and Indiana, DEA Chicago and El Paso and DEA's Regional Enforcement Team (DEA News Release, 8/6/2002).

Money Laundering

Laundering currency through international and domestic banking enterprises is closely linked to all transnational crime. Money laundering refers to the movement of cash generated through illegal means into other assets through a financial institution. The purpose in this activity is to conceal the profits generated and to obscure any connection between the criminal activity and the funds. The money launderer deposits illegally gained funds into legal financial systems in multiple deposits and then moves those funds from one institution, company or even country quickly to dissociate them from the source in a complicated web of difficult to follow transactions.

The methods of moving funds to conceal profits are "limited only by the imaginations of the launderers" (Serio, 2002:24). Money laundering is implicated in almost all transnational crimes, though drug trafficking and financial crimes (bank fraud, credit card fraud, embezzlement) are the most frequent sources of laundered funds (FATF, 1996). In addition,

laundered funds may be used in other criminal activities, including terrorism. For the terrorist, success often rests on large sums of cash for purchase of equipment, maintaining participants, and funding travel, supplies and bribery.

While estimating the magnitude of the money laundering problem is difficult, data on the total number of seizures and forfeitures related to money laundering made by law enforcement agencies in 2001 put the value at over \$500 million (Department of Treasury, 2001). The International Monetary Fund estimates the extent of the money laundering market in the work is between 2-5% of the world's gross domestic product (FATF, 2003).

An international task force on money laundering cites large organized criminal groups as the source of most money laundering: the Italian Mafia, the Japanese yakuza, Colombian cartels, Eastern European criminal groups, American ethnic gangs (FATF, 1996). The ability to track and effectively prosecute money launderers differs considerably across areas of the world. In Asia, for example, there are a number of underground banks where large cash transactions cannot be traced. In the former Soviet Union, trading or front companies may be established and moneys invested in them (FATF, 1996). In many cases, transactions are small enough not to trigger thresholds that require notification of regulatory agencies or may involve "shell" banks or companies as a camouflage for movements of funds (U.S. Department of the Treasury, U.S. Department of Justice, 2002).

Three stages characterize money laundering: placement (depositing funds into financial institutions); layering (moving deposited funds quickly from one location to another or creating a series of layered transactions) and integration (investment funds into legitimate channels, stock, real estate, contributions) (Serio, 2002). It is in the first phase of the operation that the activity is local and geographically confined.

The money launderer of the last few decades is a highly tech criminal, using the complex banking system to deposit, transfer and "layer" (Serio, 2002) funds to avoid detection. There are international e-systems (notably in the UK and Europe) that are designed to detect large, rapid turnaround transfers of funds used by financial institutions to see if they are inadvertently being used as a money laundering vehicle. The difficulty for law enforcement in this regard is two fold: the technological sophistication involved in catching the complex process and the willingness of financial institutions to cooperate with investigations into the internal workings of their business. Cases are also long in development, and involve many financial institutions and even differing regulations across national borders.

Consequently, money laundering is a different kind of crime for local enforcement agencies. The "fight against money laundering...is the product of statutes, rules and detection strategies each controlled by different institution and individuals" (Cueller, 2003:314). In detection, the focus may often start with the crime that generates the funds and move through a list of other related crimes like wire transfer fraud or embezzlement. Local enforcement is not well positioned for dealing with money laundering for many reasons (Cueller, 2003). Police operate both in response to direct reporting or observation of a crime, through follow up of secondary crimes uncovered or through surveillance of suspicious activities. In investigating money laundering, this might start with a surveillance of drug activity, lead to development of cases against the persons dealing drugs, and finally lead to investigation of where the illegal proceeds are going. Some local agencies may also have special units that monitor travelers carrying large amount of cash², gather tips from banks about large cash deposits, or rely on discovery of cash in the course of other searches.

Local enforcement may also cooperate with federal officials in undercover sting operations or follow up financial institution reporting of suspicious transactions. The Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) of the US Department of the Treasury coordinates information sharing among a number of expert systems. While these large expert information systems used by federal law enforcement agencies are available to analyze movement of money, they look primarily at violations of currency reporting. An important part of the work on money laundering, however, involves local police work to detect the underlying crime. This "bottom-up" approach relies on understanding the underlying crimes. As a result cases generated from this approach reflect most heavily those crimes that are

² Persons carrying more than \$10,000 out of the country are required to report that action to regulators prior to travel.

easily seen or "detectable," i.e. drug dealing, prostitution rings, extortion. Local enforcement also works with federal agencies in a top-down approach; for example, investigations of suspicious transactions or activity reported in federal detection systems are turned over to local police to review to convert the currency reporting violations into a money laundering case with ties to the underlying criminal activities.

Terrorism

The Immigration and Naturalization Act defines terrorist activity as any activity that involves international sabotage or conspiracy, and/or injury to others as part of those activities; planning terrorist activities; providing support to terrorists; and soliciting or managing any funds to support terrorist activities (Office of the Coordinator for Counter terrorism, 2001). Terrorism is different from other types of crimes in its political aim or motive and the degree of organization of the criminals. Terrorist acts are also intended to have a broader psychological effect, one that extends beyond any immediate victims ((Hoffman, 1998).

Dishman (2001) differentiates types of terrorists groups based on the degree to which the organizations see their goal as purely political or as including profit orientation. He argues that while "ordinary" criminal organizations are interested in maintaining the status quo to continue their profitable criminal activities, terrorist groups by contrast are interested in disrupting political or governmental structure. For example, transnational criminal groups who are profit driven may use violence to attack those getting in their way, but terrorist groups may use violence to make a political point or disrupt political power. Terrorist groups may also cooperate with each other to further a political agenda, while transnational criminal organizations are less likely to collaborate, unless it increases market share or profits.

A mentioned earlier, narco-terrorist or narco-guerillas are terrorist groups that may at some point use drug marketing proceeds to fund political activities (Sendero Luminoso, the Basque Homeland and Freedom movement), but may reduce or give up trafficking over time. Other terrorist groups continue to be associated with drug trafficking to fund activities (United Way State Army in Burma, the Kurdistan Worker's Party, the Taliban; Dishman, 2003). Still others (FARC, IRA) completely distance themselves from the profit-oriented drug organizations as not dedicated and interested only in profits.

In March of this year the U.S. Office of Counter terrorism listed thirty-three organizations as designated foreign terrorist organizations (FTO). Many activities of FTOs are uncovered as part of on-going federal investigations and have little impact on local enforcement except through a need to provide local support to federal agents. However, many other activities are uncovered or begin as part of routine police work (traffic stops, weapons violations, execution of search warrants, even domestic disturbances).

Summary

The tools needed to address the threat of transnational crime are more complex than those needed to fight local street crime. Some aspects of organized transnational crime can on the surface look like traditional, domestic criminal activity. For example, international prostitution rings involving trafficked women may operate next to local prostitutes, and be indistinguishable to vice officers not trained to recognize a wider criminal enterprise. Similarly, agencies processing non-U.S. citizens may find themselves investigating a forged visa that could lead to identity fraud, money laundering and schemes involving foreign terrorist organizations.

The events since September 11, 2001 have accelerated the need to look at the information and tools law enforcement has at its disposal to identify and deal with these crimes. The dilemma for law enforcement at all levels rests in the nature of transnational crime and the nature of the relationships between the multiple agencies involved in fighting it. Not surprisingly, agencies may be unclear as to whose jurisdiction transnational crime falls under, as well as what procedures to follow. And while transnational crime by definition involves people and organizations outside local borders, it is manifested "in the backyard" of local law enforcement agencies who have to triage to other agencies. This is not an easy task. Transnational crimes have a high level of offense complexity (Schlegel, 2000); that is, they are organizationally complex (involve multiple local and international formal and informal crime organizations, cover multiple regulatory systems and agencies); technologically complex (involve Internet based operations, high level financial transfers; elaborate communications structures); and spatially and temporally complex (involve multiple countries and extended planning and execution time frames). All these elements make a comprehensive and coordinated response both essential and hard to achieve.

Method

Development

NIJ sought to develop an exploratory, national survey to obtain data from law enforcement on transnational crime activity, perceptions of the problems these activities pose, and agency responses. An important objective in this survey was to achieve a high response rate, since poor response rates can undermine the validity of results of surveys with even the best instrumentation and sampling. Several alternative methods of data collection were considered: Web based or email surveys, self-administered mailed questionnaires and telephone surveys.

The first two types of surveys can be cost effective and yield good response rates when surveying a population that is easily accessible, highly motivated to engage in the survey's topic, and not over-studied. The target respondents within law enforcement agencies involved in this survey were upper-level command staff in city, county, and state law enforcement. Although we expected them to regard the topic as important and to be inclined to participate, upper level law enforcement managers are busy, mobile, over-studied, and often insulated from survey requests by their support staff. Mailed, self-administered surveys without extensive and costly follow-up procedures usually yield low response rates when surveying high-ranking law enforcement staff. For example, a survey conducted by the International Chiefs of Police Association (IACP) whose data collection targeted similar respondents and occurred just weeks before our survey, achieved a 25 percent response rate.

Another pressing consideration was time; our goal was to conduct all data collection and analysis and produce a final report within six months. This time constraint, coupled with other considerations, led us to opt for a telephone survey as the primary mode of data collection, with extensive use of mail, email, and phone contacts to contact, schedule, and follow-up the phone survey. While quicker and equally effective, this can be more expensive than a mail survey, so our sample size was reduced to accommodate time and resource limitations.

To develop a nationally representative sample with a high response rate, we engaged in several steps. First, we conducted an extensive literature review to identify key transnational crime problems likely to be of highest current and future concern to local law enforcement. We also examined prior surveys of law enforcement agencies and personnel for guidance on the most effective data collection procedures. Second, as key substantive issues clarified and questions arose, we engaged in informal discussions with law enforcement personnel in police departments of both large and small cities. Third, after we developed a set of key transnational crime and relevant law enforcement issues, a prototype questionnaire, and an outline of data collection procedures, we held a focus group with one Chief of Police, one Deputy Chief, and one Head of Operations. The Chief was from the police department of a city of approximately 100,000, with a diverse population and high poverty and crime rates. The Deputy Chief was from the police department of a largely affluent, relatively homogeneous suburb of 100,000, and the Head of Operations was from a middle-class suburb of 25,000 mostly white residents. Fourth, we conducted a pretest of the data collection instrument and procedure with nine police departments from nine different states (Indiana, Massachusetts, Maine, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Tennessee, Texas, and Washington).

Certain types of respondents were targeted within jurisdictions selected for the study: Police Chiefs, Sheriffs (in jurisdictions where sheriffs have primary policing responsibility), Captains, Unit Heads or Commanders, or Lead Investigators. For State Police agencies, Commanders, Colonels, or other administrators responsible for central operations or investigations were targeted. The expected challenges in accessing police chiefs, unit commanders, and other high level law enforcement staff was affirmed in exploratory conversations, the focus group, and the pre-test. Knowing this, we elected to collect primarily through telephone interviews, with extensive use of phone, mail, and email communications for establishing contact with agencies, selecting individuals within agencies for interviews, and following up each contact until they provided data or explicitly refused to participate. The focus group also suggested numerous changes to the survey instrument, such as using the term "threats to homeland security" rather than "terrorism" in the questionnaire. In the pretest the instrument that incorporated such feedback performed very well.

The questionnaire provided a working definition of transnational crime and contained instructions asking respondents to provide information only about crimes with international connections. These instructions were followed by a list of the types of transnational crimes the survey was intended to address:

- Crimes related to homeland security, e.g., foreign organizations attempting to disrupt or destroy domestic infrastructure; threatening or killing American citizens and residents.
- Illicit international trafficking, including trade in humans (for forced labor or sexual exploitation); weapons (biological weapons, firearms, munitions, or components of weapons); drugs; stolen art or artifacts; endangered animals or animal parts and products; or stolen intellectual property (e.g., pirated CDs, counterfeit clothing, or trademarked materials).
- Illegal immigration
- Computer crimes reaching across international boundaries, such as money laundering; identity and information theft; unauthorized access; sabotage; viruses ("hacking"); internet commerce in child pornography; or theft and illicit transmission of intellectual property (music, books, patented materials).
- Opportunities were also provided for respondent to address any other transnational crimes of local concern that they wished to discuss.

From the collective feedback acquired in the focus group and pretest, we finalized instrumentation and procedure guidelines for interviewers. The instrument used in this survey is presented in Appendix A. Copies of messages used in notification and follow-up procedures are presented in Appendices B and C.

Sampling

Current transportation systems and computer and communication technologies allow some forms of transnational crime to reach virtually anywhere in the United States. Localized studies, anecdotal evidence, and the historical record of major international crimes suggest that kinds of international crime of greatest interest to NIJ are not evenly distributed geographically, but most are more highly concentrated in urban areas. However, there is also evidence that suburbs and smaller communities are targeted for some forms of crime to avoid the hardened targets of larger ports and airports, and as staging areas for illicit trafficking into and out of large cities. In addition, some forms of crime, like many computer crimes, are not at all bound geographically.

Given our objective of a high response rate, the labor intensive procedures required to achieve it, and resources allowing only a small number of responses to be collected, we determined that the best approach for a descriptive, exploratory study was to draw three different sub samples. We wanted state, county, and municipal levels of government represented, since the coordination of effort is vital to effective law enforcement. To maximize the information obtainable with available resources, we devised a sampling plan with three components:

- 175 local law enforcement agencies with 50 or more sworn officers
- 50 state police departments
- 25 main police departments of core cities of the 25 largest U.S. metropolitan areas

The centerpiece of this design was the random sample of 175 law enforcement agencies. Abt Associates staff used data collected by the Bureau of Justice Statistics Census of State and Local Law Enforcement Agencies as the frame, and drew a random sample of municipal and county law enforcement agencies from the universe of 1967 organizations with 50 or more sworn officers. While this sub sample is too small to support statistical modeling of regional variations, it will support national point estimates.

Given that relatively few truly large cities are likely to be captured in a random sample of 175 or 200 of the nearly 2,000 agencies with 50 or more sworn officers, we used a purposively drawn set of the core cities of the 25 largest Metropolitan Statistical Areas in the U.S (for example, the city of Tampa was selected from the Tampa-St. Petersburg metropolitan area). This ensured that with a relatively small number of responding agencies we would provide representation of large cities. It is assumed that some types of transnational crime are concentrated in larger cities. Large urban areas provide a number of features attractive to those engaged in international crime. For terrorists, large cities provide attractive targets in the form of costly and high profile infrastructure, symbolic targets such as commerce centers and corporate headquarters, and larger concentrations of people to target. Assuming that most of the 25 largest cities/metropolitan areas are also major transportation/shipping centers, we can argue that the majority of crimes like trafficking have some involvement with these cities. Major cities are points of international commerce and transportation, and disguising illicit trafficking in goods is easier when the legitimate flow of commerce and transportation is routine and in large volume. Given the purposive selection and the total coverage of this target group of cities, generalizations cannot be drawn and the results are purely descriptive of the set of interviews conducted.

Finally, we targeted all 50 state police agencies and believed they would be an efficient use of interviews, since a relatively small number of interviews would ensure wide geographic coverage of the United States. In addition, state police often act as a conduit between the local and federal levels. Local law enforcement personnel often call state police when they have issues crossing outside their jurisdiction, and state police will refer cases to federal authorities when it becomes clear that certain crimes cross state or international lines. As with the large cities, the purposive selection and the total coverage of states means that generalizations cannot be drawn and the results are purely descriptive of the set of interviews conducted.

Data Collection

Our approach to data collection, emphasizing persistent follow-up procedures using multiple media, proved to be well suited for the extraordinary conditions under which the survey occurred. On March 17, 2003, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) Terror Threat Level was raised to orange, indicating a "high risk of terrorist attack," when President Bush declared that Saddam Hussein must leave Iraq within 48 hours. We made our first data collection contacts with agencies on March 18. The U.S. military invasion of Iraq began the following day. The threat level remained at orange until April 18, when it was lowered to yellow ("Elevated," indicating a "significant risk of terrorist attack"). Although the obligations of local and state law enforcement in response to an elevated terrorist threat varied widely across jurisdictions, it is clear that agencies' attempts to address homeland security during a time of war stressed state and local resources during the first four weeks of our data collection. In addition, many jurisdictions at the city, county and state level had recently felt the impact of budget cuts, layoffs, and hiring freezes. Already scarce law enforcement resources were stretched thin trying to address extraordinary security issues while attending to already demanding, routine enforcement duties, making responding to surveys a low priority.

While received few refusals the first few weeks of the survey, we also completed few interviews during this period. Most of the effort of the first three weeks was spent repeatedly contacting or attempting to contact respondents. In most cases, people were unavailable and in some instances they made, and often missed, appointments to do the interview. Near the time that the terror threat level was lowered,

Our first wave of approximately 50 interviews were completed by two individuals with experience working as civilian staff in police departments and other criminal justice agencies, and who were formally educated in a college of criminal justice. These interviewers understood the dense terminology and jargons commonly used in criminal justice, and were familiar with and host of federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies and their acronyms commonly mentioned by respondents. The initial interviewers developed a list of state and local agencies with which local law enforcement often collaborate, a detailed list of obstacles encountered in these interviews, and developed a guide for subsequent interviewers to follow. Additional staff (one of whom was a retired police officer) were brought aboard for the remaining 100 or so interviews.

Contact information for all of the agencies in the sample, and for targeted individuals within these agencies, was compiled well in advance of fielding the survey. We obtained the main email addresses, phone numbers, and addresses for all agencies in the sample. We then called or emailed these agencies and asked for contact information for the Chief or Deputy Chief (or whatever terminology was appropriate for parallel positions in each kind of law enforcement organization, such as Sheriff, Commander, and Superintendent). If the agency head was unavailable, we asked for the name, title, and contact information of the sworn staff member who would be most knowledgeable about law enforcement regarding international crime and homeland security, such as the head of operations for the agency or the commander of a unit addressing such issues. By the time live data collection began in mid March, we had contacted each agency, identified an appropriate individual respondent within the agency, and obtained contact information for that person.

In some cases, more than one person contributed to completion of the questionnaire since one person was not always equipped with information about all parts of the questionnaire. For example, some agencies had staffs large enough to be highly specialized. In such instances, a Head of Operations may answer questions about staffing levels and the number of arrests and investigations related to transnational crime, while the Chief would provide information about perceived resource needs and a special unit commander would tell us about communication with federal and foreign agencies. In relatively small agencies, it was much
more likely that one person in the central command staff would have sufficient knowledge of all agency activity that they could provide all of the different kinds of information we requested. To streamline the remainder of this presentation, we refer to those providing us with information within an agency as the respondent, acknowledging that anywhere from one to five people may have contributed to completing a single questionnaire.

All respondents received an emailed or mailed notification letter alerting them to our forthcoming survey. For most respondents, a series of phone calls, emails, and repeat mailings of the initial letter soon followed. Many respondents or administrative assistants acting on their behalf requested that a summary of the survey be faxed or emailed to them; others requested the full questionnaire, and still others asked for contact information so that they could confirm our legitimacy. It was rare that an interview would be completed, or a refusal received, with a single phone call. We pursued all respondents until an interview was completed, a refusal received, until we ceased major data collection efforts on May 30, 2003. Several interviews were completed in June, but only when respondents contacted us in response to our prior solicitations.

The response rates and the number of completed interviews in each sub sample are presented in Table 1. Figure presents a U.S. map showing the states from which we obtained responses from at least one agency, whether state, large city, or randomly drawn municipality or county. Figure 2 shows the location of the responding large cities, and Figure 3 shows the responding state police agencies obtained.

[Table 1 About Here]

[Figure 1 About Here]

Our approach to data collection was highly effective, particularly in light of the extraordinarily difficult circumstances during the first month of data collection and given the low response rate of a similar survey completed just as ours was beginning (IACP, 2003). We collected data from at least one agency (either state or local) from 43 of the 50 states.

All regions of the country are represented, including all coastal and border areas considered at high risk of being points of entry for illicit international trafficking and terrorism.

Across all three sub samples we achieved a 74 percent response rate. Fortunately, our greatest success was with the sub sample for which a good response rate is most critical. We completed 152 interviews out of the random sample of 175 agencies, for a response rate of 87 percent. We can only generalize from the sub sample of randomly selected agencies, and the excellent response rate provides strong assurance that the responding agencies are representative of all U.S. local law enforcement agencies of 50 or more sworn officers (minus the 25 largest police departments, which were purposively sampled). We had less success completing interviews with the state police and the largest police departments. However, we are not attempting to generalize beyond the obtained cities and states in these sub samples, so a high response rate is not vital. While significantly lower than the rates we achieved in the random sample, the 40 and 48 percent response rates for the state police and the largest cities (respectively) compare favorably with most other surveys of police command staff.

[Figure 2 About Here]

[Figure 3 About Here]

Results

The vast majority of the resources available for this study were devoted to obtaining the best possible data set, whose quality supports additional analyses. The scope of this report is limited to the presentation of tabulations and simple comparisons of responses to the survey.

Perceived Seriousness Of Local Transnational Crime Problem

Figure 4 presents the extent to which respondents said law enforcement personnel believed crimes related to homeland defense and other transnational crimes (described near the beginning of the questionnaire) to be a problem in their jurisdiction. As can be seen here,

roughly half of respondents form the large city and the random sample of departments considered such crimes to be either a "serious" or "critical" problem, and the other half considered them either "not a problem" or "a minor problem." More than two-thirds of the state police personnel interviewed said that law enforcement officers in their jurisdiction believed transnational crimes to be problematic.

[Figure 4 About Here]

When asked to indicate the extent to which the citizens in their jurisdictions felt transnational crime to be a problem, roughly half of the respondents across each sub sample said their citizens considered such crimes to be a "serious" or "critical" problem (Figure 5).

[Figure 5 About Here]

We also asked questions designed to elicit information about respondent's perceptions of trends in transnational crime in their jurisdiction over the previous five years. Figures 6 through 13 present responses to the questions about trends in illicit trafficking in humans, weapons, drugs, art, animal, or intellectual property (Figures 6-9, respectively), as well as illegal immigration (Figure 10), money laundering (Figure 11), computer crime (Figure 12), and threats to homeland security (Figure 13). As can be seen in these figures, there is variation in perceived trends across crime types and across sub samples.

[Figure 6 About Here]

About one-fifth to one-third of respondents believed that human trafficking was increasing in their jurisdiction, with respondents in large city police departments most likely to believe that this form of trafficking had increased.

[Figure 7 About Here]

Law enforcement personnel from large cities were also more likely to say that international weapons' trafficking was increasing. Nearly half (45 percent) of respondents from large cities believed there to be an increase over the previous five years, while just 27 percent of state police and 16 percent of respondents from the random sample of agencies thought weapon trafficking had increased (Figure 7).

[Figure 8 About Here]

Unlike the pattern with human and weapons trafficking, state police and those from the random sample of cities were most likely to say that drug trafficking was increasing over the previous five years (Figure 8). The vast majority of state police respondents thought drug trafficking was on the rise (87 percent), while 60 percent of those from the random sample and 44 percent of the large city respondents thought drug trafficking had increased in their jurisdiction.

[Figure 9 About Here]

As can be seen in Figure 9, just 20 percent of those in large city police departments and 11 percent of the random sample said that illicit trafficking in art, animals and animal products, and intellectual property had increased, and most of the remainder thought the five-year levels stayed roughly the same. All of the representatives of state police agencies said that such trafficking was unchanged in the previous five years.

[Figure 10 About Here]

Perceived trends in illegal immigration were more consistent across sub samples. About two-thirds of large city police and three-quarters of those from state police agencies believed there to be an increase in illegal immigration (Figure 10). Roughly half of respondents from the random sample of local agencies said they thought illegal immigration had increased in recent years.

[Figures 11 and 12 About Here]

From the data presented in Figures 11 and 12, it is clear that law enforcement command staff across all three levels of government addressed in this survey (county, city, and state) believe that money laundering and computer crimes have increased over the past five years. One hundred percent of the state police and the large city respondents, and 83 percent of the respondents form the randomly drawn agencies, said that these crimes had increased in their jurisdiction in recent years.

[Figure 13 About Here]

One third of the respondents representing the random sample of agencies said that international threats to homeland security had increased in their jurisdiction (Figure 13). About two thirds of the respondents form the state police (67 percent) and the large cities (71 percent) perceived an increase in local crimes related to international terrorism.

Level Of Transnational Crime Activity

As can be seen in the survey instrument (Appendix A), we asked a series of questions about transnational crime investigations and arrests. If any were noted, we asked questions about whether foreign nationals were involved (and if so, their country of origin) and whether foreign terrorist or criminal organizations were involved (and if so, their names). Of all the major issues addressed in this survey, the data on the number of arrests, investigations, foreign organized crime, and the country of origin for foreign nationals involved are the weakest. The major obstacles are structural and procedural: Some of the crimes addressed in this survey are not recorded by local law enforcement agencies, but are instead referred to federal agencies. Arrests and other data on these incidents are not always recorded locally. In other cases, criminal codes and data recording systems do not adequately distinguish transnational crimes from local variations of the same activity. For example, police in many locales record cases of human trafficking for sexual exploitation as prostitution, either because they have not established sufficiently that the illegal activity is part of a larger trafficking enterprise or because they are trained only to record the violation of local criminal

codes and to leave the possible international connections to federal agencies. In some locations, prostitution by trafficked persons is referred to federal agencies such as the INS and the FBI and would not appear in local crime records at all. Furthermore, even when arrest data on transnational crime exists, it is not always easily accessible to staff or aggregated in a way helpful for our survey. Finally, many agencies do not compile aggregate statistics on investigations, especially those categorized by crime type.

Given these limitations, we believe the best use of the arrest and investigation data is to collapse them into dichotomous variables, where agencies either do or do not report instances of activity in each crime type. This solution is supported by information provided by our respondents. They would often say with confidence whether there was a presence or absence of arrests or investigations into a particular type of crime, but when pressed to estimate the number would say they could only guess, or would provide a wide range and express doubt about the numbers they just provided.

Figures 14 and 15 present the percent of jurisdictions with arrests and investigations, respectively, for each of the major types of transnational crime addressed in our survey. Across almost all crime types and sub samples, we were struck by the prevalence of transnational crime activity. For example, we expected international drug trafficking to be widespread, but did not expect to see that nearly all state and local agencies were conducting investigations into transnational computer crime.

[Figures 14-15 About Here]

When respondents said their agencies had conducted investigations or made arrests for international crimes, we asked them to report whether the persons arrested or investigated were foreign nationals, and if so, their countries of origin. We are convinced that the data do not support any kind of estimate of prevalence or incidence regarding foreign origins or connections. Some respondents would say the preferred not to comment about investigations, citing due process concerns and not wanting to publicly implicate any people or nations. Other respondents said that they did not know the country of origin; in some of

these instances, and some would then mention a region or continent (e.g., "somewhere in the Mid-East," "South America"). Some would say they had the ability to determine specific countries of origin, but once the international nature of the crime became apparent the cases were referred to federal authorities and their own investigations would cease. Given the extent of missing data and the lack of specificity or confidence in the responses we gathered, we do not report on foreign nationals associated with arrests or investigations for transnational crime.

[Figure 16 About Here]

We asked whether people arrested or investigated for transnational crime were associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization, and if so, the names of the organizations. The data received has weaknesses similar to those regarding the information gathered about foreign nationals and their countries of origin: most respondents did not know, refused to answer, or accompanied their answers with expressions of doubt. Nevertheless, we provide a sampling of some of the responses in Figure 16, primarily to illustrate why we believe the data are suspect. As can be seen here, some respondents said "the Mafia," either unspecified or associated with certain countries (e.g., the "Russian Mafia"). Others said "a drug cartel" or a "crime organization" from a specific country or region, and a few said Al Queda or some other specific organization. While some of these responses appear perfectly legitimate (although in some cases vague), others are more suspect. For example, the Latin Kings is regarded primarily as an American organization (although some would argue they street gangs, even large ones with relatively coherent structures, are too loosely formed to be regarded as organized), originating in Chicago in the 1940s. However, there have been efforts to globalize, and local law enforcement may know that local chapters are engaged in transnational drug trafficking, for example, and thus refer to the Latin Kings as an international organization. The KKK is distinctly American and probably should not be mentioned as an international crime organization (particularly when considering their xenophobia), but one can speculate that respondents meant the Aryan Nation or other white supremacist groups whose activities and organization cross national boundaries.

While the data do not support analyses that would provide a coherent profile of foreign countries and organizations linked to crimes addressed by U.S. state and local law enforcement, we gathered enough anecdotes to suggest that transnational crime can originate virtually anywhere and reach nearly anywhere in the U.S. For example, one Western jurisdiction noted an ongoing problem with poaching to provide bear gall bladders to illicit markets in Asia. In one small, inland Southern city, police identified suspected Russian Mafia operatives engaged in local trafficking in stolen auto parts, with some of the illicit revenue sent abroad.

Local Law Enforcement Resources Devoted To Preventing And Responding To Transnational Crime

To provide a measure of local resources devoted to addressing transnational crime, we asked respondents to report the full-time equivalent (FTE) staff positions devoted to preventing or responding to transnational crime. We used FTEs rather than ask for names of particular positions or individuals since it is common for agencies to staff squads and task forces with portions of people's time. For example, officers may be on a drug task force that consumes about 20 percent of their time, and the remainder of their time is spent in normal patrol. A five-person task force may thus consume one FTE, and the total labor burden of the task force expressed as equivalent to one full-time position accurately depicts the human resources devoted to the task force.

As can be seen in Figure 17, all of the respondents from the sample of the 25 largest cities said their department has at least one FTE devoted to transnational crime, and 55 percent have six or more FTEs so deployed. More than half of the random sample of local agencies has no staff devoted to transnational crime, and about 40 percent have five or fewer FTEs

similarly deployed. Most state police agencies have at least one FTE focused on transnational crime, and 50 percent have six or more.

We also asked whether agencies had special units, squads, or task forces devoted to transnational crime (Figure 18). The vast majority of large cities (83 percent) and state police (95 percent) departments have at least one special in-house units addressing transnational crime. About half of the random sample of agencies reported having such units.

[Figures 17-18 About Here]

Those agencies reporting having special units were asked to name them. The data will support some degree of categorization into groups by crime type, although there are some challenges in doing so. For example, some units cross crime types, such as "special investigations unit," "special ops," and "special tactics and response." Others are more easily identifiable as focusing on a certain range of crimes, but since there are no naming conventions in use by separate law enforcement agencies there is still ambiguity. In further analysis of these data involving crime-specific designations of special units, decision rules must be established in determining what crimes are addressed by units with certain names. At this stage of our analysis, we are limited to providing an illustrative list of units, squads, and task forces (Figure 19).

[Figure 19 About Here]

Collaboration and Communication with Other Law Enforcement Agencies

Case Referral to Federal Agencies and Regional Task Forces

To explore the communication and cooperation occurring among law enforcement agencies at different levels of government, we asked respondents whether their agency had referred cases of each major type of transnational crime addressed in the survey to federal agencies or regional task forces in the previous year. Those responding affirmatively were asked to identify the agencies or task forces. Figure 20 presents an overview of referral of cases to all federal agencies and regional task forces, broken down by crime type and sub sample.

[Figure 20 About Here]

As can be seen here, referral of cases from local and state law enforcement to federal agencies and task forces is highly prevalent. The proportion of agencies referring cases to the federal and regional levels closely follows the proportion reporting investigations for most types of international crime type (Figure 14), suggesting that local agencies usually refer their international cases to at least one agency outside of the state. In fact, the prevalence of referrals for some types of crime is greater than the prevalence of investigations. For example, while 50 percent of the large cities and 25 percent of state agencies indicated conducting investigations for weapons trafficking, 75 percent of the large cities and 50 percent of the state agencies had referred international weapons cases to federal agencies and regional task forces. This suggests that respondents were defining the term "investigations" rather formally, and that state and local agencies may summarily refer cases to federal agencies that are no more than reported cases or those that have had only preliminary investigation.

[Table 2 About Here]

Table 2 presents the agencies to which state and federal law enforcement organizations refer cases of known or suspected transnational crime. It is important to note here that the referrals to state police were made by local law enforcement only, while referrals to local and regional task forces and all federal agencies include referrals from both state and local agencies. In Table 2, "Local Task Force" refers to task forces and other formal, collaborative groups formed by city and county law enforcement agencies, usually of adjacent jurisdictions. The major task forces (except the local regional task forces, listed separately) mentioned by respondents include High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTAs), composed of a mixture of federal, state, and local law enforcement agencies. There are currently 26 designated HIDTA regions in the U.S., such as the Washington/Baltimore HIDTA comprised of over 40 agencies across all levels of government. Some agencies have referred cases to Joint Terrorism Task Forces (JTTFs), of which 66 currently operate in the U.S. In addition, many respondents mentioned referring cases to Anti-Terrorism Task Forces (ATTFs). In the aftermath of September 11 Attorney General Ashcroft, following an Executive Order from President Bush, issued a directive for each U.S. Attorney to establish an ATTF. While there are 93 United States Attorneys stationed throughout the United States and U.S. Territories, we do not know how many currently have successfully implemented fully functional ATTFs.

As can be seen in Table 2, we found that local and state law enforcement organizations routinely report or refer transnational cases to at least one federal agency and/or regional task force, and local agencies reported all types to state police.

Providing Information to Federal Agencies or Regional Task Forces

In addition to asking about referring particular cases to federal agencies, regional task forces, etc., we sought to learn whether state and local agencies provided such agencies and task forces with information about transnational crime that was not necessarily associated with any particular case. As seen in Figure 21, the prevalence of this information sharing varies across crime types. While just 18 percent of agencies indicated upward sharing of information about illicit trafficking in art, animal products, or intellectual property, nearly all agencies provided information about drug trafficking (94 percent) and three fourths of the responding agencies provided information about illegal immigration (78 percent) and computer crime (75 percent).

[Figure 21 About Here]

Receiving Alerts from Federal Agencies or Regional Task Forces

While the questions about referral of cases and the provision of information were meant to assess the upward flow of information from the local and state level to the regional and national level, we also wanted to learn about information flowing in the opposite direction. From our pretest and focus group, we identified as an issue of local concern alerts put forth by federal agencies, with many law enforcement leaders expressing a desire for more meaningful information in alerts and advisories. In our instrument development work and in the literature review, we also heard about widespread dissatisfaction with the DHS Homeland Security Advisory System (sometimes referred to as the terror alert levels). Most of the feedback suggested that local agencies had not yet developed protocols for responding to particular alert levels, and that few individual officers were given concrete things to look out for or actions to take. Given this, we chose to focus on alerts rather than other forms of communication from federal and regional levels down to state and local levels. To keep discussions about the Homeland Security Advisory System from dominating the interviews and preventing us from learning about other types of alerts, we asked respondents about their agencies receiving "specific alerts beyond color codes from federal agencies or regional task forces" for each type of transnational crime.

Figure 22 presents data on state and local law enforcement agencies receiving alerts over the previous year for each crime type. As can be seen here, alerts from federal and regional levels are not as prevalent as the flow of information from state and local levels upward. The only crime type in which the prevalence of downward alerts exceeded the prevalence of upward information flow was crime related to homeland security (62 percent versus 44 percent, respectively).

[Figure 22 About Here]

Sharing Information with Other Local and State Agencies

In addition to the vertical exchange of information about each type of transnational crime across levels of government, we also designed the survey to gather information about horizontal or lateral exchange of information among state and local agencies. The pattern of lateral informational sharing across crime types is similar to that seen in the upward referral of cases and the downward alerts issued by federal and regional law enforcement organizations. As can be seen in Figure 23, most state and local agencies indicated that they had shared information about drug trafficking (84 percent) and computer crime (64 percent) with other local and state agencies in the prior year. Less than half of agencies shared information about illegal immigration (40 percent), weapons trafficking (41 percent), or crimes related to homeland security (47 percent). Relatively few agencies said they shared information laterally about illicit trafficking in humans (23 percent), art, animal products, or intellectual property (21 percent), or about computer crimes (29 percent).

[Figure 23 About Here]

Working with Foreign Agencies or International Organizations

For each crime type, we also asked respondents whether their agency had worked with foreign law enforcement agencies or international organizations (either alone or with a federal partner) in the previous year. Figure 24 shows the percent of agencies in our sample reported to have worked with foreign agencies and organizations regarding each type of transnational crime. Clearly, cooperation with foreign organizations is rare, ranging from two percent (trafficking in weapons, art, animal products, intellectual property) to nine percent (drug trafficking) of the state and local agencies sampled.

[Figure 24 About Here]

Taken together, the information about upward, downward, and lateral information flow and cooperation suggests great variation across agencies. One of the primary determinants of this variation is local crime activity. Most respondents said that they had acceptable or good communication flow with the federal agencies and task forces addressing their priority crime issues, while the quality of cooperation with agencies with which they communication less frequently or those addressing lower priority crimes is less consistent. There were diverging opinions expressed about INS, in particular. Several respondents said that they have profound local illegal immigration issues, but that INS is so unresponsive that they no longer

make arrests for illegal immigration or refer such cases to them. Other respondents offered completely opposite opinions, saying that they had an excellent relationship with INS and that they were quite responsive. A common complaint about federal agencies is that they are eager to accept information from local law enforcement, and more than willing to accept help when it suits them, but that they seldom reciprocate with useful, actionable information or with other forms of assistance.

After crime issues, the level and quality of communication were attributed mainly to the personalities and working relationships between the individuals involved. In some cases, poor communication could be traced to past people and events and had become institutionalized. Several respondents recalled instances where they asked for help or were working with a federal agency, had a bad experience (usually, feeling that the federal agencies were unresponsive to their needs and /or were arrogant and condescending to local law enforcement), and resolved to have minimal future contact with the particular federal agencies.

Perceived Resource Needs

In addition to examining the levels, perceived seriousness, resources, and interagency cooperation concerning transnational crime, we asked respondents to indicate the resources they believed their agency would need to "prevent and respond to threats to homeland security or other international crime" in their jurisdiction. In our survey instrument development process, focus group and pretest participants made it clear that if we asked whether agencies currently had sufficient resources everyone would say "no," and if we asked whether additional resources were needed everyone would say "yes."

To address the expectation that all respondents would like more resources and believe they would be helpful, while pursuing our interest in what resources were considered of higher priority, we presented respondents a list of resources and asked them to indicate the "percentage increase in each of these resources you think you would need to prevent and respond to threats to homeland security or other international crime in your jurisdiction." The resources listed were (1) personnel, (2) training, (3) equipment, and levels of

cooperation with (4) federal, (5) state, (6) local, and (7) foreign law enforcement. Figure 25 presents the perceived need for increases in each of these kinds of resource, broken down by sub sample. Across most of the kinds of resources, respondents from large city agencies expressed the need for the greatest proportional increases, while state law enforcement indicated the need for the smallest increases. By a substantial margin, responding agencies cited the greatest need for personnel, training, and equipment to effectively address transnational crime, and indicated a need for relatively modest increases in additional interagency cooperation.

[Figure 25 About Here]

REFERENCES

Note: Some Web sources require subscription or are no longer available at the original address.

ABCNEWS.com. (February 19, 2002). Early Warnings. Pre-Sept. 11 Cautions went unheeded. http://abcnews.go.com/sections/wnt/DailyNews/wnt_missedsignals_1_020218.html

Albanese, J., Ed. (1995). Contemporary Issues in Organized Crime. New York: Criminal Justice Press, Division of Willow Tree Press, Inc.

Alex, T. (June 26, 2002). Bioterror team trains to combat dirty bombs. <u>www.desmoinesregister.com</u>

Alex, T. (June 26, 2002). FBI alert on tankers sparks alarm in Iowa. <u>www.desmoinesregister.com</u>

Alex, T. (June 26, 2002). FBI: Iowa terrorist threats specific. www.desmoinesregister.com

Altman, L. (February 21, 2002). Local police outline war on terrorism. Daily Breeze. <u>www.tpd.torrnet.com</u>

American Immigration Lawyers Association. (April 6, 2002). Statement: DOJ Opinion on State and Local Police Enforcing Immigration Laws Bodes III for Law Enforcement and Communities. Posted on AILA InfoNet, Doc. No. 02040937 (April 09, 2002).

American University. (October 1, 1997). Statement of Dr. Louise I. Shelley before the House of Representatives' Committee on International Relations. Transnational Crime and

Corruption Center (TraCCC). Downloaded 8/21/02. http://www.american.edu/traccc/Publications/Shelley_testimony1097.htm

American University. (October 1, 1997). Transnational Crime, Corruption, and Information Technology. 2000 Annual Conference Report. Transnational Crime and Corruption Center (TraCCC). Louise Shelley, Director of TraCCC. http://www.american.edu/tracc/Events/TC&IT_2000_Report.pdf http://www.american.edu/tracc/

American University. (June 28, 1999). Trafficking in Women: Defining the Problem. Statement of Dr. Louise I. Shelley. Hearing on Sex Trade: Trafficking of Women and Children in Europe and the United States. Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe (the Helsinki Commission) as http://www.american.edu/traccc/pdfs/HTMLs/testimony699.htm. Available at http://www.american.edu/traccc/publications.htm - ShelleyPubs

American University. (Spring 2000). Organized Crime and Corruption Watch. Transnational Crime and Corruption Center (TraCCC). Vol. 2 (1). Washington, DC.

American University. (2002). Research and publications of Dr. Louise I. Shelley, Director. Transnational Crime and Corruption Center (TraCCC). Downloaded 8/21/02. http://www.american.edu/traccc/publications.htm#ShelleyPubs

Ammons, D. (February 3, 2002). Former lawmaker works to stamp out sex slavery trade. Alpinex.com. The Olympian. Olympia, Washington. Downloaded 8/29/03 as http://news.theolympian.com/specialsections/Legislature2002/20020203/9975.shtml

Anti-Defamation League (ADL). (2003). Resources for Law Enforcement. ADL Law Enforcement Agency. Downloaded 1/30/03. http://www.adl.org/learn/additional_resources/resources_terrorism.asp

Associated Press. (March 26, 2003). Increased security costing state an additional \$135,00 a week. Boston (AP). Via email to Abt Project Team 03/26/03 from Sarah Kuck, Abt Associates Inc.

Baker, T. (July 12,2003). Terrorism: West Sound security gets \$1.2M (Kitsap, Jefferson and Clallam counties will receive the money from the Department of Homeland Security). http://www.thesunlink.com/redesign/2003-07-12/local/200087.shtml

Baptist Standard. (May 8, 2000). Sex trade 'alive & well' in America. Arlington, VA. http://www.baptiststandard.com/2000/5_8/pages/sex.html

Barnett, P. (September 10, 2003). Circling the "War Wagons": How mobile command centers are boosting first responders' communications capabilities. Homeland Security News. Thompson Publishing Group. Downloaded 9/12/03 as http://www.thompson.com/libraries/grantmanage/land/news.html Requires subscription.

BBC News. (February 23, 2000). Crackdown on sex slavery. (World, Americas). http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/americas/653648.stm

Beare, M.E. (March 9-10, 2000). Structures, Strategies, and Tactics of Transnational Criminal Organizations: Critical Issues for Enforcement. Presented at the Australian Institute of Criminology, Australian Customs Service, and Australian Federal Police, Transnational Crime Conference. Canberra. Nathansoncentre for the Study of Organized Crime and Corruption. Downloaded 8/20/03 as http://www.ncjrs.org/nathanson/aust.html. http://www.yorku.ca/nathanson/Publications/aust.htm

Benson, M. and Cullen, F. (1998). Combating Corporate crime: Local prosecutors at work. Boston: Northeastern University Press.

Benton, D. and Libertucci, A. (August 2002). Executive Summary, International Conference on Illicit Tobacco Trade, New York.

Betts, R.K. (1998). The new threat of mass destruction. Foreign Affairs. January/February 1998: 27-41.

Blackburn, E. (2003). Homeland Security focus of research. The Daily Texan. July 21, 2003.

Bodley, P. (July 17, 2003). County seeks homeland security funding. Coon Rapids Herald, Managing Editor. Downloaded 7/20/03. http://www.coonrapidsherald.com/2003/july/17security.html

Bodrero, D.D. (March 1999). Confronting terrorism on the state and local level. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin. pp. 11-18.

Borut, D.J. (July 21, 2003). Call it a crisis when the heroes of 9-11 are getting laid off. National League of Cities. Downloaded 7/24/03. <u>http://www.nlc.org</u>

Bowker, A.L. (December 2000). The advent of the computer delinquent. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin. Vol. 69(12).

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF)/WHO. (2002). International Conference on Illicit Tobacco Trade, July 30 – August 1, 2002, Chairpersons' Executive Summary. D.L. Benton and A.J. Libertucci, Conference Chairpersons. August 7, 1002. ATF, U.S. Treasury Department, with the World Health Organization.

Bureau of Investigation. (2002). Multiple articles on stolen art. Criminal Investigative Division. Violent Crimes and Major Offenders Section. Interstate Theft. Reservation Crimes Unit. INTERPOL's Stolen Cultural Property Home Page. Downloaded 10/2/02. <u>http://www.irational.org/APD/scitech/art.htm</u> Bureau of Justice Assistance. State and Local Anti-Terrorism Training Program. U.S. Department of Justice.

Bureau of Justice Statistics. Office of Justice Programs Anti-Terrorism Funding Sources. <u>www.ojp.usdoj.gov</u>

Bureau of Justice Statistics. (May 2001). (Law Enforcement Management and Administrative Statistics) Local Police Departments 1999. Hickman, M.J. & Reaves, B., BJS Statisticians. NCJ 186478. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Bureau of Justice Statistics. (May 2002). Special Report: Police Departments in Large Cities, 1990-2000. Reaves, B. & Hickman, M.J., BJS Statisticians. NCJ 175703. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Bureau of Justice Statistics. (January 2003). (Law Enforcement Management and Administrative Statistics) Local Police Departments 2000. Hickman, M.J. & Reaves, B., BJS Statisticians. NCJ 196002. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Bureau of Justice Statistics. (January 2003). (Law Enforcement Management and Administrative Statistics) Sheriffs' Offices 2000. Hickman, M.J. & Reaves, B., BJS Statisticians. NCJ 196534. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Calhoun, H. (June 2001). Small arms trafficking: Can it be controlled? US Foreign Policy

Agenda: An Electronic Journal of the US Department of State, Vol. 6(2): 8-15.

Caterinicchia, D. (2002). FBI seeks to link joint terrorism task forces. Federal Computer Week. <u>www.fcw.com</u>. December 9, 2002.

CBSNews.com. (June 5, 2002). Washington. Powell: Human Trafficking Thrives. http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2002/06/05/world/printable511167.shtml

Center for State Homeland Security (CSHS). A National Resource for States and Local Communities. State Homeland Security offices, legislation, reports, readings on Homeland Security, with individual source links. A non-profit collaboration between National Emergency Management Association (NEMA), Adjutants General Association of the U.S. (AGAUS), and Mitretek Systems. Falls Church, VA. <u>http://www.cshs-us.org/cshs/cshs.nsf</u>

Chilton, R. (2001.) Viable Policy: The Impact of Federal Funding and the Need for Independent Research Agendas—The American Society of Criminology 2000 Presidential Address. Criminology, Vol. 39(1).

Cigelske, T. (June 10, 2003). New security law poses problem for ports. Tim

Cigelskeassociated pressap. Duluth News-Tribune (MN). Downloaded 6/11/03. http://nl.newsbank.com/nlsite/region_pgs/mwest_search.htm

Click2Houston.com. (May 8-9,2002). Drug cartels move into nice neighborhoods. Authorities suggest people only report suspicious activity. Downloaded 8/21/02 as http://www.click2houston.com/hou/news/theinvestigators/stories/theinvestigators-1444978. Could not locate 10/19/03.

CNN.com/Inside Politics (Washington). (September 19, 2002). Report cites warnings before 9/11. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.cnn.com/2002/ALLPOLITICS/09/18/intelligence.hearings/

CNN.com (Washington). (March 3, 2003). Daschle blasts Bush on homeland security. Downloaded 3/4/03. <u>http://www.cnn.com/2003/ALLPOLITICS/03/03/democrats.homeland/</u>

Coleman, J. (October 2002). Private eyes online: Special task force hunts for sex offenders in cyberspace. The Associated Press. ABC News.com. Downloaded 10/10/02. http://abcnews.go.com/sections/tech/DailyNews/nettaskforce000315.html

Coolican, J.P. (April 12, 2003). Suburbs also spend in war on terrorism. The Seattle Times.. Washington Bureau. Downloaded 7/2/03. <u>http://www.seattletimes.com</u>

Committee on Governmental Affairs. (December 11, 2001). Testimony of Chief William B. Berger, President of the International Association of Chiefs of Police before the Committee on Governmental Affairs, U.S. Senate. The Local Role in Homeland Security. Downloaded 10/10/02. <u>http://www.senate.gov/~gov_affairs/121101berger.htm</u>

Condon, E.C. (October 6, 2003). Bipartisan groups calls for national standards of preparedness. Homeland Security News. Thompson Publishing Group. Downloaded 10/6/03 as <u>http://www.thompson.com/libraries/grantmanage/land/news.html</u> Requires subscription.

Cueller, M. (2003). The tenuous relationship between the fight against money laundering and the disruption of criminal finance, The Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, Vol. 93(2-3).

Cullen, K. (September 12, 2001). Boston arm of terrorist group being sought. The Boston Globe/Boston.com. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.boston.com/news/packages/underattack/globe_stories/0911/Boston_arm_of_terrorist_group_being_sought+.shtml

Cutler, S.P. (December 1999). Building international cases: Tools for successful investigations. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin.

Cyprus, Republic of, Government Spokesman. (2002). Daily Briefing of the press by the

Government Spokesman (Michalis Papapetrou). Regarding the illegal trafficking of cigarettes through Cyprus. March 19, 2002. Downloaded 9/24/02, http://www.kypros.org/PIO/news/spokesman/spokesman227.htm

Damask, J.A. (July 9, 2002). Cigarette smuggling: Financing terrorism? Mackinac Center for Public Policy Research. Downloaded 9/24/02. <u>http://www.mackinac.org/4461</u>

Demarco, P. & Roy, C. (May 16, 2003). Bay State tackles homeland security issues. Boston Globe Online. Boxborough. Downloaded 5/16/03 as http://www.boston.com/dailyglobe2/136/metro/bay_state_tackles_homeland_security_issues. http://www.boston.com/globe/search, archives.

Dillman, D.A. (1978). Mail and Telephone Surveys: The Total Design Method. New York: Wiley.

Dishman, C. (2001). Terrorism, crime, and transformation. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism, 24:43-58. U.S. Commission on National Security in Arlington, Virginia.

Dobriansky, P. (2001). The explosive growth of globalized crime. U.S. Under Secretary of State for Global Affairs. Transnational Crime. Global Issues: Arresting Transnational Crime. Downloaded 8/21/02. <u>http://usinfo.state.gov/journals/itgic/0801/ijge/gj01.htm</u>

Drug Enforcement Administration, DEA Intelligence Division, International Strategic Support Section, Europe/Asia/Africa Unit. (January 2003). The DEA perspective, Narcotics and terrorism. Crime & Justice International.

Duggan, P. (October 17, 2001). FBI Chief promises to give state and local police a role in probe. The Washington Post. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.washingtonpost.com/ac2/wp-dyn/A5292-2001Oct16?language=printer

Ehrlich, H.J. (2003). No way to peace/peace is the way: The first six months of the war against terrorism. The Prejudice Institute, www.predjuceinstitute.org. Downloaded 7/11/03. http://www.prejudiceinstitute.org/nowaytopeace.html

Enders, W. & Sandler, T. (June 2000). Is transnational terrorism becoming more threatening? A time series investigation. Journal of Conflict Resolution, Vol. 44(3): 301-332.

Environmental Investigation Agency (EIA). (September 11, 2001). Environmentalists Expose Rampant Trade in Stolen Timber from Indonesia's Forests. Press Release. Downloaded 10/2/02. <u>http://www.salvonet.com/eia</u>

Estes, R.J. & Weiner, N.A. (September 18, 2001; Revised 2/20/02). The Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children in the U.S., Canada and Mexico. Full report of the U.S. National Study. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania, School of Social Work, Center for the Study of Youth Policy.

FAIR Press Release/News Release. (March 5, 2002). Florida plan for cooperation in immigration law enforcement is model for the rest of the Nation, says FAIR. Downloaded 10/9/02 as http://www.fairus.org/html/07489203.htm http://www.fairus.org/Media/Media.cfm?ID=306&c=34

FAIR. Status of Key Legislation. (August 12, 2002). Status of Key Immigration Legislation. 107th Congress – First Session. Downloaded 10/9/02 as http://www.fairus.org/html/wrapup.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. Terrorism in the United States 1999: Counterterrorism Threat Assessment and Warning Unit, Counterterrorism Division. http://www.fas.org/irp/threat/terror.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (February 16, 2000). Congressional Statement of Louis J. Freeh, Director. Cybercrime. Subcommittee for the Departments of Commerce, Justice, State, the Judiciary, and Related Agencies. Washington, DC. Downloaded 11/12/02. http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress00/cyber021600.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (May 10, 2001). Congressional Statement of Louis J. Freeh, Director. Threat of Terrorism to the United States.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (November 31, 2001). Congressional Statement of Thomas Carey, Assistant Special Agent in Charge, Anthrax Investigation, Washington Field Office, FBI. Communication with the Law Enforcement Community. Statement before the U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary. Washington, DC. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress01/carey111301.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (February 12, 2002). Congressional Statement of Dennis M. Lormel, Chief, Financial Crimes Section, FBI. Money Laundering. House Committee on Financial Services, Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations. Washington, DC. Downloaded 10/17/02. <u>http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress02/lormel021202.htm</u>

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (March 25, 2002). Congressional Statement of Steven M. Dean. Terrorism Preparedness.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (March 28, 2002). Congressional Statement of Ronald L. Iden. Bio-Terrorism.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (April 2, 2002). Congressional Statement of Larry A. Mefford, Associate Special Agent in Charge, San Francisco Division. Terrorism Preparedness. Before the House Committee on Government Reform, Subcommittee on Government Efficiency, Financial Management and Intergovernmental Relations. San Francisco, CA. Downloaded 10/17/02.

http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress02/mefford040202.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (April 2, 2002). Congressional Statement of Larry A.

Mefford. Terrorism Preparedness.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (April 17, 2002). Congressional Statement of Robert J. Jordan. Information Sharing Initiatives.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (June 11, 2002). Congressional Statement of Larry Mefford, Assistant Director, Cyber Division, Federal Bureau of Investigation. NIPC's Role in the New Dept of Homeland Security. Before the House Committee on Governmental Reform, Subcommittee on National Security, Veterans Affairs, and International Relations. Washington, DC. Downloaded 10/17/02. http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress02/nipc061102.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (June 27, 2002). Congressional Statement of Robert S. Mueller, III. Homeland Security.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (July 24, 2002). Congressional Statement of Ronald L. Dick, Director, National Infrastructure Protection Center, Federal Bureau of Investigation. Cyber Terrorism and Critical Infrastructure Protection. Statement for the Record. Before the House Committee on Governmental Reform, Government Efficiency, Financial Management, and Intergovernmental Relations Subcommittee. Washington, DC. Downloaded 10/18/02. <u>http://www.fbi.gov/congress/congress02/nipc072402.htm</u>

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (October 17, 2002). Congressional Statement of Robert S. Mueller, III. Joint Intelligence Committee Inquiry.

Federal Bureau of Investigation. (April 2003). The FBI Perspective. Crime & Justice International. The Rise and Rise of Organized Crime. Vol. 19(72).

Federal Bureau of Investigation. Houston, TX. (October 2002).FBI in Partnership. FBI Houston Partnerships in Law Enforcement. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://houston.fbi.gov/fbipartn.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. Atlanta. (2002).Partnerships in law enforcements. Downloaded 10/10/02. <u>http://atlanta.fbi.gov/taskforces.htm</u>

Federal Bureau of Investigation. Las Vegas. (2002). Task Forces. Downloaded 10/10/02. http://lasvegas.fbi.gov/taskforce.htm

Federal Bureau of Investigation. Portland, OR. (October 17, 2002).Task Forces. Downloaded 1/30/03. <u>http://portland.fbi.gov/task.htm</u>

Federal Register. (July 24, 2001). Protection and Assistance for Victims of Trafficking; Interim Rule. 28 CFR Part 1100. Part IV. 66. No. 142. U.S. Department of Justice, Department of State.

Federal Trade Commission (FTC). (1997) Challenges for Law Enforcement.

http://www.ftc.gov/reports/Fraud/lawenfor.htm

Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering. (September 10, 2003). Basic Facts about Money Laundering, Internet www.oecd.org/fatf/Mlaudering

Finckenauer, J.O. (2000) Chinese Transnational Organized Crime: The Fuk Ching. United Nations Activities. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Justice International Center. Downloaded 8/20/02. http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij/international/chinese.html

Finckenauer, J.O. (July 3-7, 2001). Meeting the challenge of transnational crime. National Institute of Justice Journal. Director of NIJ International Center. Washington, DC.

Finckenauer, J.O. & Voronin, Y.A. (July 2001). The Threat of Russian Organized Crime. Issues in International Crime. NCJ 187085. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice, U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Fischer, H.W. III. (1999). Dimensions of biological terrorism: to what must we mitigate and respond?. Disaster Prevention and Management, Vol. 8(1): 27-32.

Fischer, H.W. III. (2000). Mitigation and response planning in a bio-terrorist attack. Disaster Prevention and Management, Vol. 9(5): 360-367.

Flowers, R.B. (May 2001). The Sex Trade Industry's Worldwide Exploitation of Children. The Annals of the American Academy, AAPSS, 575: 147-155.

Flynn, S.E., U.S. Coast Guard Academy. (2000). Drug trafficking, the International System, and decision-making constraints: A policy-making simulation. International Studies Perspectives (2000) 1: 45-55. International Studies Association. Malden, MA/Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishers.

Foster, M.J. "Mike", Jr. (2002). Cooperation Key to Security Efforts. Governor of Louisiana. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.gov.state.la.us/policy/01column/security.htm

Fryer, A. (March 28, 2003). Sea-Tac test will screen screeners. The Seattle Times.. Washington Bureau. www.seattletimes.com

Fryer, A. (March 28, 2003). State may get extra funding in Bush's homeland budget. The Seattle Times. Washington Bureau. www.seattletimes.com

Fryer, A. (June 13, 2003). Grants awarded to boost security at nation's ports. Seattle Times Washington Bureau.

http://seattletimes.nwsource.com/html/localnews/134987048 port13m.html

Fryer, A. (July 2, 2003). Feds back off on ferry screening. The Seattle Times. Washington Bureau. Downloaded 7/2/03. <u>http://www.seattletimes.com/cgi-bin/PrintStory.pl</u>

Garamone, J. (November 16, 2001). Ridge Describes Homeland Security Strategy. American Forces Press Service (AFIS).

Gardiner, S. & Parascandola, R. (July 2003). How safe are we? Shifting role for NYC Police. Department leaders' main focus has changed to battling terrorism. nyNewsday.com. Downloaded 7/25/03. <u>http://www.nynewsday.com/news/local/manhattan/ny-safe-nyc.story</u>

Gaul, G.M. and Flaherty, M.P.. (October 20, 2003). Narcotics trafficking surges online. The Washington Post, p. A01.

Ghent, B. (February 26, 2003.). Byrd criticizes Bush over first responder funds. Congress Daily. Free weekly e-mail newsletter of the Federal government. Homeland Security Week. Downloaded 3/4/2003. <u>http://www.govexec.com/dailyfed/0203/022503cdpm1.htm</u>

Godson, R. & Williams, P. (Autumn 1998). Strengthening cooperation against transnational crime. Survival, Vol. 40(3): 66-88.

Golstein, K.M., and Jennings, M.K. (2002). The effects of advance letters on cooperation in a list sample telephone survey. Public Opinion Quarterly, 66: 608-617.

Goldstein, P. (1985). The drugs-violence nexus: A tri-partite conceptual framework. Journal of Drug Issues, 15: 493-506.

Gomexico.com. (2002). Mexico/Central America for Visitors. Drug Cartels, Guide Picks. Index to drug cartels and traffickers. <u>http://gomexico.about.com/cs/</u>

Godson, R.. and Williams, P. (Autumn 1998). Strengthening cooperation against

transnational crime. Survival, Vol. 40(3): 66-88.

Gorka, S. & Sullivan, R. (2002). Biological Toxins: A Bioweapon Threat in the 21st Century. Security Dialogue, Vol. 33. Sage Publications.

Greene, J.R. (August 21, 2002). U.S. and Multinational coalition disrupts migrant smuggling operations. Transnational Crime, Global Issues, Arresting Transnational Crime. Assistant Commissioner for Investigations, U.S. Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). http://usinfo.state.gov/journals/itgic/0801/ijge/gj04.htm

Greenway, H.D.S. (July 27, 2003). How safe is Boston Harbor? Living with hazardous cargo in the age of terrorism. The Boston Globe Magazine.

Hainlein, G. (July 31, 2000). Cops seize illegal smokes. Detroit News, Michigan Bureau. Downloaded 9/24/02. <u>http://www.detnews.com/2000/metro/0007/31/d01-98354.htm</u>

Hale, C. (September 2002). Cybercrime: Facts & Figures concerning this global dilemma. (International). Crime & Justice International. Cybercrime: A Global Dilemma. Vol. 18(65).

Hanser, R. (February 2002). Poaching problem growing. Crime & Justice International. Poaching: An International epidemic. Vol. 18(59).

Hanser, R. (May 2002). Immigration and crime in Europe. Crime & Justice International. Vol. 18(62).

Harper, B. (July 18, 2003). Port security price tag could slow future action. Sun-Sentinel.Com. Medill News Service. Downloaded 7/29/03 as http://www.sun-sentinel.com/business/local/sfl-zport18jul18, 0,393404.story: Expired.

Hart, G. & Rudman, W. (2002). America—Still Unprepared, Still in Danger. Council on Foreign Relations.

Harvard University. (2002). Beyond the Beltway: Focusing on Hometown Security. Cambridge, MA: John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University. September 2002.

Heritage Foundation, The. (January 2002). Defending the American Homeland.

Hernandez, R. (May 23, 2003). Officials hope federal funds are passed on to localities. The New York Times, nytimes.com. Downloaded 5/23/03. http://www.nytimes.com/2003/05/23/nyregion/23YORK.html.

Houston Police Online. (May 31, 2001). Incident at 6464 Westheimer. (Stolen jewelry). News Release. Downloaded 10/2/02. http://www.ci.houston.tx.us/department/police/nr053101-1.htm

Hoffman, B. (1998). Inside Terrorism. Columbia University Press.

Holmes, K. (June 2001). Tracing illegal small arms: An ATF program, International Information Programs, in U.S. Foreign Policy Agenda: An Electronic Journal of the US Department of State, Vol. 6(2): 18-20.

Hughes, D.M. (January 2001). The "Natasha" Trade: Transnational Sex Trafficking. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice Journal.

HumanTrafficking.org. A Web Resource for Combating Human Trafficking in the East Asia Pacific Region. Downloaded 8/29/03. <u>http://www.humantrafficking.org/</u>

Identity Theft Resource Center. (Summer 2003). Identity Theft: The Aftermath 2003.

Johnson, K. (August 8, 2001). 100 arrested in Internet child porn ring. USA Today.

Immigration and Naturalization Service. Bureau of Citizenship. (2002). Immigration Classifications and Visa Categories. Downloaded 7/25/02. Last modified 9/24/03. http://www.immigration.gov/graphics/services/visas.htm

Institute for Law and Justice. (1993). Fourth Annual Conference on Evaluating Crime and Drug Control Initiatives: Summary of Proceedings. June 28-30, 1993. Sponsored by the National Institute of Justice, with Bureau of Justice Assistance. Prepared by ILJ for the Professional Conference Series. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Institute for the Study of Violent Groups. (December 2002). Hizballah. Crime & Justice International.

International Association of Chiefs of Police. Homeland Security Preparedness Survey. Executive Summary.

International Association of Chiefs of Police. Leading From the Front: Law Enforcement's Role in Combating and Preparing for Domestic Terrorism.

International Association of Chiefs of Police. (August 2002.) Criminal Intelligence Sharing: A National Plan for Intelligence-Led Policing At the Local, State, and Federal Levels.

International Organization for Migration (IOM). (May 2001). Trafficking in Unaccompanied Minors for Sexual Exploitation in the European Union. Brussels, Belgium.

Interpol. (August 29, 2003). People Smuggling. International Police Organization. Downloaded 8/29/03. <u>http://www.interpol.int/Public/THB/PeopleSmuggling/Default.asp</u>

Interpol. (August 29, 2003). Trafficking in women and children. International Police Organization. Downloaded 8/29/03. http://www.interpol.int/Public/THB/Women/Default.asp

IOM/ICMC (June 2002). II Research Report on Third Country National Trafficking Victims in Albania: Inter-Agency Referral System (IARS) Project for Return and Reintegration Assistance to Victims of Trafficking. Tirana, Albania.

Johnson, J. (February 21, 2003). U.S. to sponsor international sex trafficking summit.

CNSNews.com. Congressional Bureau Chief. Downloaded 8/29/03. http://www.cnsnews.com/Culture/archive/200302/CUL20030221b.html Accompanying Map: Trafficking of Persons, Especially Women and Children: USA Routes. http://209.190.246.239/ver2/Appendices/tm/us.pdf

Johnson, K. (2001). FBI to share terrorism intelligence with local police. USA Today, December 11, 2001. <u>www.Usatoday.com</u>

Johnson, K. (August 8, 2001). 100 arrested in Internet child porn ring. USA Today.com. Copyright 2002. Downloaded 10/9/02. www.usatoday.com/news/washdc/august01/2001-08-08-childporn.htm

Kennedy, E.M., Massachusetts Senator. (May 18,1977; October 25, 1978). FISA: Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act. Public Law PL 95-511 (S.1566). Summary. Revised as of 10/05/78. Conference report filed in House, H. Rept. 95-1720. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://www.loyola.edu/dept/politics/intel/FISA-Summary.html

King, L.E. & Ray, J.M.(November 2000). Developing Transnational Law Enforcement Cooperation: The FBI Training Initiatives. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, Vol. 16(4): 386-408. California/London: Sage Publications, Inc.

Kleiman, M.A.R. (1992). Against Excess: Drug Policy for Results. New York: Basic Books.

Krantz, C. (July 17, 2002). Ashcroft urges joint war efforts. DesMoinesRegister.com. Downloaded 3/5/03 as http://www.dmregister.com/news/stories/c4789004/1872.html: Could not locate 10/20/03.

Krugman, P. (April 1, 2003). A red-blue terror alert. The New York Times, nytimes.com. Downloaded 4/1/03 as <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2003/04/01/opinion/01KRUG.html</u>. Requires Member number and password.

KVAL 13 News (Eugene, OR). (March 4, 2003). Governor signs spending plan. Downloaded 3/5/03. <u>http://www2.kval.com</u>

LaTourrette, T. & Peterson, D.J. Protecting Emergency Responders, Vol. 2: Community Views of Safety and Health Risks and Personal Protection Needs. RAND Science and Technology Policy Institute.

Layne, M. (July 2002). Transnational Crime Local Law Enforcement Survey, Draft Version 1.4. Cambridge, MA/Washington, DC. Abt Associates Inc. for National Institute of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Department of Justice.

Learn, S. & Stern, H. (March 5, 2003). Residents back raising taxes for services by slim margin. The Oregonian, OregonLive.com. Downloaded 3/5/03. http://www.oregonlive.com/news/oregonian Legon, J. (October 23, 2002). FBI seeks to trace massive Net attack. Bid fails to topple Web. CNN.com (Story Tools). Downloaded 10/24/02. http://www.cnn.com/2002/TECH/internet/10/23/net.attack/index.html

Lewis, J.F. (March 1999). Fighting Terrorism in the 21st Century. FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin.

Lichtblau, E. (2002). 9/11 Lessons seen in reaction to sniper. The New York Times, October 9, 2002.

Lilley, P. (2000). Dirty Dealing: The Untold Truth About Global Money Laundering. (London/Dover, NH: Kogan Page).

Mabrey, D. (January 2003). Demystifying Hawala: Understanding terrorist financial networks. Crime & Justice International. Special Issue: Responding to Terrorism. Vol. 19(69).

Mabrey, D. (March 2003). Human smuggling from China. Crime & Justice International. Vol. 19 (71): 5-11.

Magaw, J.W., Director, Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF). (1997). Opening Statement before the House Commerce Committee on preventing and investigating tobacco diversion. December 9, 1997.

Mameli, P.A. (2002). Stopping the illegal trafficking of human beings. How transnational police work can stem the flow of forced prostitution. Crime, Law & Social Change. 38: 67-80. Originally presented at the Xth International Symposium on Victimology, August 6-11, 200, Montreal, Canada.

Mann, C.C. (September 2002). Homeland Insecurity. The Atlantic Monthly: Special Report. Vol. 290 (2).

Markle Foundation, The. (October 2002). Protecting America's Freedom in the Information Age: A Report of the Markle Foundation Task Force.

Massachusetts State Police On-Line Academy. (2003). The Illegal Drug Trade, Chapter Two, Scope and Dimensions. Terrorism updates (2003). Course material related to the Terrorist threat. <u>http://www.msponlineacademy.com</u> Downloaded 10/13/03.

Massingham, D. (1997). State and local authorities begin preparations for terrorism fight. Dispatch. Spring 1997. Vol. VII (1). Downloaded 10/10/02. http://www.efilmgroup.com/Dispatch/disvii_4.htm

Matthews, W. (2002). Database lets police share crime info, & Task Force urges distributed intelligence. Federal Computer Week. November 4, 2002. <u>www.fcw.com</u>.

McConnell, D. (June 5-8, 2001). Combating the spread of small arms: The US Approach. US Foreign Policy Agenda: An Electronic Journal of the US Department of State, Vol. 6 (2).

McHugh, A.J. Coordination Within the Rings of Law Enforcement. Johns Hopkins Journal of American Politics.

McIlvain, T. and Siddiquee. (March 20, 2003). Police, airports heighten security. The Daily Illini with wire reports, The Daily Illini Online. Downloaded 4/16/03. http://www.dailyillini.com/mar03/mar20/news/stories/news_story04.shtml

Medaglia, A. (July 3, 2003). Federal funds to help communities fight terrorism. The Boston Globe. Globe North, p. 1.

Miller, J. (December 2001). Terrorism spurs law enforcement cooperation. Government Computer News, <u>www.gcn.com</u>, Vol. 7, No. 12.

Miller, J. (September 10, 2002). City Cops or CIA? Local Police: Can't Rely on Feds Alone in War on Terrorism. ABCNews. <u>www.abcnews.com</u>

Miller, J. (October 7, 2002). Report Calls for Plan of Sharing Data to Prevent Terror. New York Times. <u>www.nytimes.com</u>

Mitchell, R.W. (October 3, 2003). COPS Awards \$59.5 million in overtime grants; NYC gets \$9 million. Homeland Security News. Thompson Publishing Group. Downloaded 10/6/03 as http://www.thompson.com/libraries/grantmanage/land/news.html Requires subscription.

Moran, N.R. (June 5-8, 2002). Emerging trends: Transnational drug production and trafficking. Crime & Justice International, Vol. 18(63): 23-24.

Morris, D. (April 1, 2003). National Guard anti-terror teams unfunded in Bush budget. Global Security Newswire. Government Executive Magazine, GovExec.com. Daily Briefing, CongressDaily. Downloaded 3/2/2003. http://www.govexec.com/dailyfed/0403/040103cdam1.htm

Nadine, J. & Sinderbrand, R. (March 10, 2003). Homeland insecurity: Budget woes for states to pull cops off the street. Newsweek. p. 44.

Nartker, J. (August 20, 2003). First responders feel inadequately equipped, survey finds. Global Security Newswire. Government Executive Magazine, GovExec.com. Downloaded 8/21/03. <u>http://www.govexec.com/dailyfed/0803/082003gsn2.htm</u>

National Association of Counties Homepage. Strengthening Homeland Security, Policy Agenda to Secure the People of America's Counties, Resolution Creating a Local Anti-Terrorism Block Grant. <u>www.naco.org</u>.

National Governors Association. (2002). Volume Two: A Governors Guide to Homeland Security.

National Institute of Justice. (May 1995). Searching for Answers: Annual Evaluation Report , Drugs and Crime, 1993–1994. 5th ed. Washington, DC. U.S. Department of Justice.

National Institute of Justice. (January 1999). Inventory of State and Local Law Enforcement Technology Needs to Combat Terrorism. Research in Brief. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

National Institute of Justice International. (August 2003). International Research Grant and Opportunities. Highlighting active and proposed research projects. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

National Troopers Coalition. (April 23, 2002). Let police cross-check immigrants. Downloaded 10/9/92 as <u>http://www.ntctroopers.com/vnews/display.v</u>

NCAI News. (2003). NCAI Endorses S.578; Bill ensures tribal participation in Homeland Security Endeavors. Washington, DC. Contact Jason McCarty. http://www.ncai.org/main/pages/issues/governance/documents/hs-ncai_endorses_s578.pdf

NCAI News. (2003). NCAI President says S.578 will close vulnerable gap in homeland security. Washington, DC. Contact Jason McCarty. http://www.ncai.org/main/pages/issues/governance/documents/homeland_security_release_7 -31-03.pdf

New York State Office of Public Safety. (January 2003). Countering Terrorism in the Empire State. Crime & Justice International.

Office of Commonwealth Security. The Institute for Foreign Policy Analysis. (December 2002). The Strategic Plan for Safeguarding the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Against Terrorist & Related Themes.

Office of Counterterrorism. (March 27, 2002). Fact Sheet. U.S. Department of State.

Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP). (February 10, 2000). General

Counterdrug Intelligence Plan.

Osava, M. (October 2, 2002). Animal trafficking, a billion-dollar business. Tierramerica.net. <u>http://www.tierramerica.net/2001/0805/iarticulo.shtml</u>

Parachini, J. (October 2001). Non-Proliferation Policy and the War on Terrorism. Arms Control Today.

Passas, N. (2003). Hawala and other informal value transfer systems: How to regulate them?

Abstract. Risk Management.

Peartree, E. (June 15-18, 2001). Destroying excess small arms: US policy and programs. US

Foreign Policy Agenda: An Electronic Journal of the US Department of State, Vol. 6(2).

Peirce, N. (March 17, 2003). Homeland's mayors aren't feeling too secure. The Seattle Times. Downloaded 3/17/03 as http://www.seattletimes.nwsource.com. www.postwritersgroup.com/archives/peir0310.htm

Pettinari, Cmdr. Dave. (December 2002). Your good name: Investigating identity theft. Special to CJI. Crime & Justice International.

Progressive Policy Institute. (July 2003). America at Risk: A Homeland Security Report Card.

Raymond, J.G.; Hughes, D.M.; Gomez, C.J. (March 2001). Sex Trafficking of Women in the United States. International and Domestic Trends. Report to Coalition Against Trafficking in Women. University of Massachusetts, Amherst and University of Rhode Island. Supported by the National Institute of Justice (NIJ), Grant #98-WT-VX-0032.

Raymond, J.G.; D'Cunha, J.; Dzuhayatin, S.R.; Hynes, H.P.; Rodriguez, Z.R.; Santos, A. (2002). A Comparative Study of Women Trafficked in the Migration Process: Patterns, Profiles and Health Consequences of Sexual Exploitation in Five Countries (Indonesia, the Philippines, Thailand, Venezuela and the United States). Report from a two-year study funded by the Ford Foundation.

Ranalli, R. (March 26, 2003). Mass. spending \$1.2m a month on antiterrorism effort. Boston Globe Online. Downloaded 3/26/03. <u>www.boston.com</u>

Rashbaum, W.K. (July 15, 2002). Terror Makes All the World a Beat for New York Police. The New York Times on the Web. Downloaded 10/10/02 as http://www.nytimes.com/2002/07/15/nyregion/15TERR.html. Available at http://www.nypdnews.com/nypdinter.html

Reno, Attorney J. (December 25, 2002). The Threat of Digital Theft: Intellectual property theft is faster, costlier and more dangerous than ever. As published at TheStandard.com. Downloaded 11/7/02. <u>http://www.cybercrime.gov/AGdigitaltheft.htm</u>

Reuters.com. (2002). Colombia far-right warlord says to surrender to US. September 24, 2002. Downloaded 10/9/02. <u>http://www.reuters.com/</u>

Rhodes, W.M.; Layne, M.; Bruen, M-A.; Truitt, L.; Becchetti, L.M.; Crawford, S.O. (May 25, 2001). Progress Report: Estimating the Magnitude of Money Laundering. Prepared for the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN), Contract No. 1435-01-00-CT-31050. Cambridge, MA/Washington, DC: Abt Associates Inc.

Richard, A.O. (November 1999). International Trafficking in Women to the United States: A Contemporary Manifestation of Slavery and Organized Crime. U.S. State Department Bureau of Intelligence and Research. Conducted under the auspices of the DCI Exceptional Intelligence Analyst program administered by the Center for the Study of Intelligence.

Rivera, R. (June 13, 2003). Edmonds man pleads guilty to one money-laundering charge. The Seattle Times/seattletimes.com. Downloaded 6/13/03. <u>www.seattletimes.com</u>

Rodriguez, C. (March 5, 2003). Immigration office bogs down over security rules. Boston Globe Online/boston.com. <u>http://www.boston.com/globe/search/</u>

Rosenberg, S. (July 3, 2003). Police to lose 10 officers in 2 months. Boson Globe Online. North Weekly. Downloaded 3/26/03 as http://www.boston.com/dailyglobe2/184/north. http://www.boston.com/globe/search/, archives.

Ruggiero, V. (2000). Transnational Crime: Official and alternative fears. International Journal of the Sociology of Law. (Quarterly). Vol. 28: 187-199. London: Academic Press.

Russakoff, D. & Sanchez, R. (April 1, 2003). Begging, borrowing for security: Homeland burden grows for cash-strapped states, cities. washingtonpost.com. p. A01. Downloaded 4/1/2003. <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/ac2/wp-dyn/A62682-2003Mar31</u>

Russell, J. & Dade, C. (March 9, 2003). U.S. giving Mass. \$11.7M to fund security costs. Boson Globe Online. Metro/Region, p. B1. Downloaded 3/10/03 as http://nl.newsbank.com/nl-search/we/Archives p_action=print. http://www.boston.com/globe/search

Russo, J. and Labriola, D. (July 2002). Local Information Sharing Systems Fight Terrorism. The Police Chief.

Sarkar, D. (September 20, 2002). NGA Urges 'hometown security'. Federal Computer Week. <u>www.fcw.com</u>.

Schiray, M. (2001). Introduction: drug trafficking, organized crime, and public policy for drug control. Drug, criminal organizations, & public policies. Translated from French. UNESCO. Oxford, UK/Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishers. 169/2001.

Schlegel, K. (November 2000). Transnational crime: Implications for local law enforcement. Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice. Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 365-385. Sage Publications, Inc.

Schloenhardt, A. (1999). Organized crime and the business of migrant trafficking. Crime, Law and Social Change, 32: 203-233.

Schneider, S. Bear, M. & Ill, J. (2002). Alternative Approaches to Combating Transnational Crime. Report of the Federal Transnational Crime Working Group, Solicitor General, Canada, 1-164.

Schumer, C.E., Senator. (October 31, 2001). Schumer, Clinton launches effort to boost information sharing between federal and local law enforcement authorities. (New York). Press Release. U.S. Senate. Downloaded 10/9/02. http://schumer.senate.gov/SchumerWebsite/pressroom/press_releases/PR00734.html

Seattle Times Staff. (April 17, 2003). Sea-Tac airport drops security car-checks. The Seattle Times, seattletimes.com. Downloaded 4/17/03. <u>http://archives.seattletimes.nwsource.com/web/</u>. Archive search requires password.

Serio, J. (September 2002). Post-Soviet crime groups in the computer realm: A real threat? (Russia). Crime & Justice International. Cybercrime: A Global Dilemma. Vol. 18, No. 65.

Serio, J. (December 2002). The spin cycle: An overview of money laundering. (Back to Basics). Crime & Justice International. Ethics in Law Enforcement. Vol. 18, No. 68.

Sevick, J.R. Jefferson Research, Inc. (October 1993). Precursor and Essential Chemicals in Illicit Drug Production: Approaches to Enforcement. A National Institute of Justice Issues and Practices Report. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Shared Hope International. (June 14, 2002). Media Release. Testimony of 3 girls, sold into sexual slavery when merely 8 years old, will be shared by Former Congresswoman Linda Smith at the House International Relations Committee hearing on June 19, 2002.

Shared Hope International. (1999). Inez's Story. Downloaded 7/9/02. http://www.sharedhope.org/feature.htm

Shelley, L. (1998). Transnational organized crime in the United States: Defining the problem. Kobe University Law Review, Vol. 1 (32): 77-91.

Shelley, L. (March 2000), The disposal of seized laundered assets. Killing Development: Money Laundering in the Global Economy. Jones, A.; Rider, B.; Saltmarsh, G.; and Shelley, L. Centre for Post-Collectivist Studies. London: SMF Publications.

Shenon, P. (November 12, 2001). A nation challenged: Law enforcement; Local officials

accuse F.B.I. of not cooperating. The New York Times on the Web. Downloaded 10/10/002. http://query.nytimes.com/search/article-printpage.html?res=9C0DE2DE1338F931A25752

Shepardson, D. (October 31, 2001). Local Cops on Alert After FBI Warning. The Detroit News.

Smith, B.L.; & Damphousse, K.R.; Jackson, F.; Sellers, A. (2002). The Prosecution and Punishment of International Terrorists in Federal Courts: 1980-1998. Volume 1, No. 3, pp. 311-338.

Spillane, J. City's Police Numbers Heavy Towards the Top Supervisor-to-Patrolman Ratio. New Bedford Standard Times. <u>http://www.s-t.com/daily/03-02/03-17-02/digest.html</u>

State of Illinois, Department of Corrections. (July 23, 2002). Governor Ryan announces state to receive \$2 million in federal funds for Department of Corrections. Illinois Going Home Program to support prisoner reentry initiatives. Springfield: Press Archive. Downloaded 9/20/02. <u>http://www.idoc.state.il.us/subsections/news/archive/7232002.shtml</u>

Steinhauer, J. & Hernandez, R. (April 3, 2003). City and state at odds on millions to fight terror. The New York Times, nytimes.com. Downloaded 4/3/03. http://www.nytimes.com/2003/04/03/nyregion/03MAYO.html

Stenger, R. (September 13, 2001). Feds enlist ISPs in terrorist probe. CNN/CNN.com. http://www.cnn.com/2001/TECH/internet/09/13/fbi.isps

Stoecker, S.W. (n.d.) The Rise in Human Trafficking and the Role of Organized Crime. TRACCC Transnational Crime and Corruption. Report to the U.S. Department of Justice, U.S. Department of State.

Sullivan, A. (September 2002). U.S. House votes to stiffen cybercrime penalties. (United States). Crime & Justice International. Cybercrime: A Global Dilemma. Vol. 18, No. 65.

Swartz, B. (2002). Helping the world combat international crime. Transnational Crime. Global Issues: Arresting transnational crime. Downloaded 8/21/02. http://usinfo.state.gov/journals/itgic/0801/ijge/gj03.htm

Taylor, I. & Jamieson, R. (1999). Sex trafficking and the mainstream of market culture. Crime, Lawn & Social Change, 32: 257-278.

Thomas, E. (2003). War on Terror: Al Qaeda in America, The Enemy Within. Newsweek, June 23, 2003.

Tourangeau, R., and Smith, T. (1996), Asking Sensitive Questions: The Impact of Data Collection Mode, Question Format, and Question Context. Public Opinion Quarterly, 60, 275-304.

Trafficking in Migrants Quarterly Bulletin. (September 1996). Combating Migrant Trafficking through Legislation. No. 12. Geneva, Switzerland.

Trafficking in Migrants Quarterly Bulletin. (July 1999). Traffickers Make Money through Humanitarian Crises. No. 29. Geneva, Switzerland.

Trafficking in Migrants Quarterly Bulletin. (December 1999/January 2000). Information Campaigns Against Trafficking. No. 20. Geneva, Switzerland.

Trafficking in Migrants Quarterly Bulletin. (Summer 2000). There Are Ways to Curb the Worldwide Traffic in Migrants. No. 21. Geneva, Switzerland

Tully, E.J. & Willoughby, E.L. (Bud). (May 2002). Terrorism: The Role of Local and State Police Agencies. Article. National Executive Institute Associates (NEIA), Major Cities Chiefs Association and Major County Sheriff's Association. Downloaded 10/10/02. http://www.neiassociates.org/state-local.htm

United Nations. (April 4, 1995). Results of the supplement to the Forty UN Survey of Crime Trends and Operations of Criminal Justice Systems on Transnational Crime. Interim Report by the Secretariat.

United Nations Economic and Social Council. (August 27, 1997). Report of the Panel of

Governmental Experts on Small Arms, UN doc.n. A/52/298.

United Nations General Assembly. (January 8, 2001). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly. 55/25. United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime. Fifty-fifth session. Agenda item 105. A/RES/55/25.

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). (2002). The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons (Summary). Downloaded 7/24/02 as http://www.undcp.org/bin/printer_friendly.cgi; http://www.unodc.org/unodc/trafficking_protocol.html

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). (August 29, 2003). Protocol against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Crime. Downloaded 8/29/03. http://www.unodc.org/unodc/crime_cicp_signatures_migrants.html

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). (August 29, 2003). Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children (Summary). Downloaded 8/29/03. http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/trafficking_convention.html

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC). (August 29, 2003). United Nations

Convention against Transnational Organized Crime. Downloaded 8/29/03. http://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/crime_cicp_signatures_convention.html

USA Today. (October 9, 002). International Internet pornography ring busted. USAToday.Com.

United States Conference of Mayors, The. (December 2001). Marc H. Morial, Mayor of New Orleans. A National Action Plan for Safety and Security in America's Cities.

University of Massachusetts (UMass). (Summer 2003). Homeland security generates new center. Alumni Magazine. (Amherst). On April 30, 2003, "Technologies for Homeland Security Applications," and Center for Emergency preparedness (CEP). <u>http://www.umassmag.com/Summer_2003/Homeland_security_generates_new_center_466.html</u> <u>http://www.umass.edu/iled/initiatives/sepri/CEP.html</u>

United States Congress. (January 24, 2000). H.R. 324. Victim of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000. An act to combat trafficking in persons, especially into the sex trade, slavery, and involuntary servitude, to reauthorize certain Federal programs to prevent violence against women, and for other purposes. One Hundred Sixth Congress of the United States of America at the Second Session, Senate and House of Representatives. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of Justice, CCIPS. (January 24, 2002). § 1030: Fraud and Related Activity in Connection with Computers. As Amended Oct. 11, 1996. Downloaded 11/7/02. http://www.cybercrime.gov/1030_new.html

U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. (n.d.). Information for victims of trafficking in persons and forced labor. (Brochure). http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/crim/wetf/victimsbrochure.html

U.S. Department of Justice, Criminal Division. (2002). Organized Crime and Racketeering Section (OCRS). Downloaded 7/19/02. <u>http://www.usdoj.gov/criminal/ocrs.html</u>

U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. (2002). Trafficking in persons and worker exploitation Task Force. National Worker Exploitation Task Force. Washington, DC. Downloaded 7/23/02. <u>http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/crim/tpwetf.htm</u>

U.S. Department of Justice, Immigration and Naturalization Service. (2002). Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act of 2000 (VTVPA). Downloaded 7/23/02. http://www.immigration.gov/graphics/shared/lawenfor/interiorenf/antitraf.htm

U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS). (2002). Local Law Enforcement Responds to Terrorism. Lessons in Prevention and Preparedness. COPS Innovations. <u>http://www.cops.usdoj.gov/mime/open.pdf?Item=296</u>
U.S. Department of Justice, Police Forum. (August 9, 2002). Operation Tips Fact Sheet. Operation Terrorism Information and Prevention System (TIPS). Downloaded 5/30/03 as http://www.policeforum.org./tips.htm; www.usdoj.gov: May not currently be available.

U.S. Department of Justice/Department of the Treasury. (July 2002).National Money Laundering Strategy.

U. S. Department of State. (June 2001). Small Arms and Light Weapons: U.S. Policy and Views. U.S. Foreign Policy Agenda, Vol. 6 (2).

U.S. Department of State. (July 2001). Trafficking in Persons Report. Released by the Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons. Washington, DC. Downloaded 7/23/02. http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/tiprpt/2002/10653.htm

U.S. Department of State. (May 2002). Overview of the Administration's Implementation of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000. Released by the Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons. Washington, DC. Downloaded 7/23/02. http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/rpt/10531.htm

U.S. Department of State. (June 2002). Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act 2000: Trafficking in Persons Report. Department of State Publications.

U.S. Department of State. (June 5, 2002). Trafficking in Persons Report. Washington, DC. Downloaded 7/23/02. <u>http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/tiprpt/2001/3929.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State. (June 19, 2002). U.S. Policy to Combat Trafficking in Persons and the Second Annual Report. Testimony of Paula J. Dobriansky, Under Secretary of State for Global Affairs before the House International Relations Committee Combating Trafficking in Human Beings. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. (August 2003). Assessment of U.S. Activities to Combat Trafficking in Persons. Department of Justice, with Departments of Health and Human Services, Labor, Homeland Security, and USAID. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. Bureau of Public Affairs. (April 30, 2001). Appendix B: Background Information on Terrorist Groups. Patterns of Global Terrorism – 2000. Released by the Office of the Coordinator for Counterterrorism. Downloaded 8/21/02. <u>http://www.state.gov/s/ct/rls/pgtrpt/2000/2450.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State. Bureau of Public Affairs. (October 5, 2001). 2001 Report on Foreign Terrorist Organizations. Released by the Office of the Coordinator for Counterterrorism. Downloaded 8/21/02. <u>http://www.state.gov/s/ct/rls/rpt/fto/2001/5258.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State. Fact Sheets. By topics. http://usinfo.state.gov/

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (March 2000). Fact Sheet: U.S.-International Anti-trafficking Initiatives. Released by the President's Interagency Council on Women, March 2000. Downloaded 7/22/02 as http://usinfo.state.gov/topical/global/traffic/fsintl.htm. http://usinfo.state.gov/gi/Archive/2003/May/20-182124.html

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (November 15, 2000). Excerpts: UNGA Adopts Documents on Transnational Crime, Trafficking. Downloaded 8/25/02 as http://usinfo.state.gov/topical/global/traffic/00111601.htm. http://www.usembassy.it/file2000_11/alia/a0111604.htm

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (February 1, 2001). Fact Sheet: State Department Programs to Combat Trafficking in Persons. Downloaded 7/22/02 as http://usinfo.state.gov/topical/global/traffic/01060101.htm. http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/fs/2001/3072.htm

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (October 5, 2001). Fact Sheet: State Department Identifies 28 Foreign Terrorist Groups. Two groups dropped from list since 1999 report. International Security, Response to Terrorism. Downloaded 8/21/02. http://usinfo.state.gov/topical/pol/terror/01100513.htm

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (June 24, 2002). Six suspects indicted for trafficking of Mexican migrant workers; U.S. Official cites new information in latest trafficking report. List of other trafficking news, fact sheets, reports and documents, international initiatives. Downloaded 7/24/02. <u>http://usinfo.state.gov/products/pdq/pdq.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs, Global Issues. (2002). Arresting Transnational Crime. Downloaded 8/21/02. http://usinfo.state.gov/journals/itgic/0801/ijge/ijge0801.htm

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. Office of the Spokesman. (February 14, 2002). Fact Sheet on Future U.S. Activities Against Trafficking in Persons. Downloaded 7/22/02. <u>http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2002/8033.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs, Publications. (n.d.) The Andes under siege: Environmental consequences of the drug trade. Downloaded 10/7/02. http://usinfo.state.gov/products/pubs/andes

U.S. Department of State. (2002). Office of International Criminal Justice, Bureau for International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs. The Threat: Transnational Organized Crime, Winter 1996.

U.S. Department of State, Press Statement: Philip T. Reeker. "Terrorist Exclusion List". http://www.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2001/6695.htm U.S. Department of State, Under Secretary for Global Affairs. (June 19, 2002). Office to monitor and combat trafficking in persons. Downloaded 7/23/02. <u>http://www.state.gov/g/tip/</u>

U.S. Department of State, USIS. (2002). Fact Sheet: Fish and wildlife service on trade in reptiles: Smugglers target some of world's rarest species. G-98091605.AAF USIA: New U.S. Partnership with Africa Environment – Reptile Trade. Downloaded 10/7/02, as http://usinfo.state.gov/regional/af/usafr/e8091605.htm.

U.S. Department of State. (1999). Money Laundering and Financial Crimes. Washington, DC.

Downloaded 9/12/02. http://www.state.gov/g/inl/rls/nrcrpt/1999/928.htm

U.S. Department of State. (May 2001). Economic perspectives: The fight against money laundering. An Electronic Journal of the U.S. Department State. Vol. 6, No. 2. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. (June 2002). Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection Act 2000: Trafficking in Persons Report. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. (March 12, 2003). Model Law To Combat Trafficking in Persons. Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons. Washington, DC. Downloaded 8/29/03. <u>http://state.gov/g/tip/rls/other/19087pf.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State. (June 2003). Trafficking in Persons Report – Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. (June 27, 2003). Lilya 4-Ever: A Film by Lukas Moodysson Examining the Tragic Realities and Horrors of Trafficking in Humans. Presentation at the Secretary's Open Forum, Washington, DC. <u>http://www.state.gov/s/p/of/proc/22337.htm</u>

U.S. Department of State. (July24, 2003). Conference on Progress Against Trafficking in Persons in Southeastern Europe." Washington, DC. Downloaded 8/29/93. http://www.state.gov/g/tip/rls/other/22741.htm

U.S. Department of State. (August 2003). Assessment of U.S. Activities to Combat Trafficking in Persons. Department of Justice, with Departments of Health and Human Services, Labor, Homeland Security, and USAID. Washington, DC.

U.S. Department of State. (August 1, 2003). "Progress Against Trafficking in Persons in Southeastern Europe." Paula Dobriansky, Under Secretary for Global Affairs. Opening remarks at Conference. Washington, DC. Downloaded 8/29/93. http://www.state.gov/g/rls/rm/2003/23001.htm

U.S. Department of State, International Information Programs. (August 2001). Bibliography. Global Issues. Arresting Transnational Crime. Downloaded 8/21/02.

http://usinfo.state.gov/journals/itgic/0801/ijge/gj11.htm

U.S. Department of State, USIS. (2002). Fact Sheet: Fish and wildlife service on trade in trafficking in Persons Report – Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000. Washington, DC.

U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA). (n.d.) Drug Trafficking in the United States. DEA Briefs & Background, Drugs and Drug Abuse, Drug Descriptions, Drug Trafficking.... U.S. Department of Justice. Downloaded 10/28/02. http://www.usdoj.gov/dea/concern/drug_traffickingp.html

U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA). (2002). Major drug trafficking organization in El Paso behind bars; DEA's Chief of Operations underscores significant impact. News Release/For Immediate Release, News from DEA, News Releases, August 6, 2002. Downloaded 10/28/02. <u>www.usdoj.gov/dea/pubs/pressrel/pr080602p</u>

U. S. General Accounting Office (GAO). (August 2001). International Crime Control: Sustained Executive-Level Coordination of Federal Response Needed.

U. S. General Accounting Office (GAO). (2002). Statement of Paul L. Posner, Before the Subcommittee on Government Efficiency, Financial Management, and Intergovernmental Relations, Committee on Government Reform, House of Representatives. Homeland Security: Effective Intergovernmental Coordination is Key to Success. August 22.

U.S. Government, Executive Office of the President. (February 2002). General Counterdrug Intelligence Plan (GCIP). <u>http://www.whitehousedrugpolicy.gov/GCIP</u>

U.S. Government, Executive Office of the President. (September 2002). The National Security Strategy of the United States of America.

U.S. Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), Executive Office of the President, Publications. (December 2000). Table 1–Total U.S. Expenditures on Illicit Drugs, 1988–2000. What America's Users Spend on Illegal Drugs 1988–1998. www.whitehousedrugpolicy.gov/publications/drugfact/american_users_spend/table1.html Downloaded 10/13/03.

U.S. Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), Executive Office of the President, Publications. (December 2000). Executive Summary. What America's Users Spend on Illegal Drugs 1988–1998. Downloaded 10/13/03 www.whitehousedrugpolicy.gov/publications/drugfact/american_users_spend/exec_summ.ht ml

U.S. President. (2001). National Strategy for Combating Terrorism. November 6, 2001.

U.S. President. (2001). Presidential Directive of George W. Bush. Homeland Security Presidential Directive-1&2. October 29, 2001.

U.S. Treasury, Office of Public Affairs. (June 8, 1999). Treasury Names More Fronts of Colombian Drug Cartels. RR-3192. Press Room. Downloaded 8/21/02. http://www.ustreas.gov/press/releases/rr3192.htm

Valeri, L. (2000). Securing Internet society: Toward an international regime for information assurance. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism, 23:129-146.

Viviano, F. (May/June 1995). The new Mafia order. Mother Jones/Mother Jones.com. Downloaded 8/21/02. <u>http://www.motherjones.com/mother_jones/MJ95/viviano.html</u>

Vudhiwat, C. (September 2002). Developing threats: Cyberstalking and the criminal justice system. (United States). Crime & Justice International. Cybercrime: A Global Dilemma. Vol. 18, No. 65.

Wallace, C. (September 16, 2002). Internet as weapon: Experts fear terrorist may attack through cyberspace. ABC News.com. Copyright 2002 ABC News Internet Ventures. Downloaded 10/10/02. <u>http://abcnews.com/</u>

Wang, J.Z. (2001). Illegal Chinese immigration into the United States: A preliminary factor analysis. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 45(3). 345-355.

War Against Trafficking Alliance. (February 23, 2003 – February 26, 2003). Pathbreaking Strategies in the Global Fight Against Sex Trafficking. Prevention, Protection, Prosecution: Conference Recommendations. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of State.

Ward, D. (2001). Reassessing terrorism. Crime & Justice International. October/November 2001.

Wasserman, M. (2002). Dirty money. (After September 11, the fight against money laundering has acquired new urgency). Regional Review, Q1 2002, pp. 14-30.

Webb, D. (May 2002). Thinking globally, acting locally: A trafficking dilemma. Crime & Justice International.

Welsh-Huggins, A. (April 16, 2003). Taft reports on reduction in state staffing. The Associated Press (Columbus). The Cincinnati Enquirer. Downloaded 4/16/03. http://www.enquirer.com/editions/2002/04/18/loc_taft_reports_on.html

Wennerholm, C.; Kalikov, J.; Kurova, T.; Marcinkeviciene, D.; Nurmi, R.; Pederssen, F. (February 2002). A Resource Book for Working Against Trafficking in Women and Girls – Baltic Sea Region. Kvinnoforum. Produced through collaboration between six Baltic Sea countries, with funding from the Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 3rd Edition.

Wexler, C. (October 2, 2001). Discussion Draft: Local Law Enforcement's Role in

Preventing and Responding to Terrorism. www.policeforum.org

Wexlor, S.. (September 2002). NYDP: On the frontlines in the was against terrorism. (In-Tac NYPD). Law Enforcement Technology. Vol. 29, Issue 9. pp. 76-80, 82-84. National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS). NCJR No. 196902. Downloaded 10/16/02. http://abstractsdb.ncjrs.org/content/AbstractsDB_Results.asp?page=1

Whine, M. (1999). Cyberspace—A medium for communication, command, and control by extremists. Studies in Conflict & Terrorism, 22:231-245.

White House News Release. (October 8, 2001). Executive Order Establishing Office of Homeland Security. Establishing the Office of Homeland Security and the Homeland Security Council. Office of the Press Secretary. Washington, DC: President George W. Bush. Downloaded 10/9/02. <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2001/10/print/20011008-2.html</u>

White House News Release. (October 29, 2001). Fact Sheet: Organization and Operation of the Homeland Security Council. Office of the Press Secretary. Washington, DC: President George W. Bush. Downloaded 10/17/02. http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2001/10/print/20011029-16.html

White House News Release. (February 4, 2002). The President's Plan to Strengthen Our Homeland Security. Washington, DC: President George W. Bush. Downloaded 10/096/02. http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2002/02/20020204-2.html

White House News Release. (February 28, 2003). Fact Sheet: Protecting the homeland. (Today's Presidential Action.) Office of the Press Secretary. Washington DC: President George W. Bush. Downloaded 2/28/03. http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2003/02/20030228-1.html

White House News Release. (June 25, 2003). Counterterrorism Cooperation Fact Sheet. U.S.-EU Summit. U.S.-EU Counterterrorism Cooperation. Washington, DC: President George W. Bush. Downloaded 6/26/03. http://www.whitehouse.gov/news/releases/2003/06/print/20030625-4.html

Williams, P. & Godson, R. (2002). Anticipating organized and transnational crime. Crime, Law & Social Change 37: 311-355.

Woods, B.F. (1998). The Art & Science of Money Laundering: Inside the Commerce of the International Narcotics Traffickers. Boulder, CO: Paladin Press.

World Customs Organization. (January 25, 2000). Speech by Mr. Danet, Secretary General of the WCO. Memorandum of Understanding Between the World Customs Organization (WCO) and The International Council of Museums (ICOM) on Combating the Illicit Traffic in Cultural Property. Downloaded 9/11/02.

http://www.wcoomd.org/ie/En/Topics_Issues/Cross_borderCrime/Cites/mou/MOUICOM.ht

<u>m</u>

Young, R.L. (October 2002). Environmental Terrorism: A Growing Threat. Crime & Justice International.

Tables and Figures [Attached File]

Appendices

Appendix A	Questionnaire. [Attached	l File]
------------	--------------------------	---------

- Appendix B Initial Contact Letter [Attached File]
- Appendix C Follow-up Letter [Attached File]

Table 1: Sample

	Contacted	Responded	Response Rate
25 Largest Cities	25	12	48%
State Police	50	20	40%
Random Sample	175	152	87%
Total	250	184	74%

Figure 1: States Represented in Sample



Figure 2: Large Cities in Sample



Figure 3: State Police in Sample



Figure 4: Law Enforcement Concern About Transnational Crime



Figure 5: Perceived Citizen Concern About Transnational Crime



Figure 6: Perceived Trend: Human Trafficking



Figure 7: Perceived Trend: Weapons Trafficking



Figure 8: Perceived Trend: Drug Trafficking



Figure 9: Perceived Trend: Art, Animal, Intellectual Property



Figure 10: Perceived Trend: Illegal Immigration



Figure 11: Perceived Trend: Money Laundering



Figure 12: Perceived Trend: Computer Crime



Figure 13: Perceived Trend: Homeland Security



Figure 14: Percent of Jurisdictions with Investigations For Transnational Crimes



Figure 15: Percent of Jurisdictions with Arrests For Transnational Crimes



Figure 16: Crime and Terrorist Organizations Mentioned

- Drug cartel from _____ (country)
- Gangs
- Mafia
- Crime organization
 from _____
- Not sure

- Al Qaeda
- Russian Mafia
- Israeli Mafia
- Latin Kings
- Bloods
- KKK

Figure 17: FTEs Devoted to Transnational Crime



Figure 18: Agencies with In-House Special Units, Squads, Task Forces



Figure 19: Units, Squads, Task Forces

Counter-terrorism

- Domestic security task force
- Counter terrorism team
- Terrorism unit
- Terrorist intelligence unit
- Anti-terrorism unit
- Homeland security task force
- Homeland threat assessment
- Special assistant for homeland security

- Russian organized crime unit
- Port Security
- Drug task force
 - E.g., narcotic enforcement team
- WMD preparedness
- Special investigations
- Special ops
- Special tactics and response
- Computer investigations

Figure 20: Percent Referring Cases to Federal Agencies or Regional Task Forces



Table 2: To Whom Local and State AgenciesReport, by Crime type

AGENCY	Human Traff	Arms	Drug	Other Goods	Illeg Immig	\$ Laund	Computer	Home Sec
FBI		X				Х	Х	X
ATF		X						
DEA		X	Х			Х		
INS	X		Х		X			
Customs			Х					
Secret Service						Х		X
ATTF	Х				Х			X
JTTF	Х				X			X
Local TaskForce	Х		Х				Х	
State Police	Х	Х	Х	Х	X	Х	Х	X
HIDTA			Х					
Border Patrol	Х				Х			
IRS						Х		
Attorney General						Х		
County Prosecutor							Х	
US Army		Х						

Figure 21: Percent Providing Information to Federal Agencies or Regional Task Forces



Figure 22: Percent Receiving Alerts from Federal Agencies or Regional Task Forces



Figure 23: Percent Sharing Information with Other Local or State Agencies



Figure 24: Percent Working with Foreign Agencies or International Organizations



Figure 25: Percent Increase Needed to Prevent and Respond to Transnational Crime



25 Largest Cities	State Police	Random Sample	
-------------------	--------------	---------------	--
TERRORISM AND TRANSNATIONAL CRIME LAW ENFORCEMENT SURVEY

Abt Associates Inc., for the National Institute of Justice

INTRODUCTION TO BE READ BY TELEPHONE INTERVIEWER

Hello, I am _______ of Abt Associates, and we are conducting a study for the U.S. Department of Justice on the extent of state and local law enforcement involvement in fighting crimes related to homeland security and other types of international crime. While crimes involving the cross-border transfer of illicit products or services, or those instigated by foreign criminal or terrorist organizations are usually prosecuted at the federal level, uncovering and investigating them may often involve the time and effort of state and local law enforcement. This survey attempts to measure the extent of that burden on your organization.

Your (police department/Sheriff's department/agency) has been selected from among approximately 17,000 U.S. law enforcement departments and agencies to participate in this study. The survey will take approximately **30** minutes. The results are intended to inform the development of effective programs to fight international crime at state and local levels.

The information you provide will be kept strictly confidential: No specific law enforcement departments or individuals will be cited in any reports produced by this survey. <u>Your participation is completely voluntary</u>: you may decline to answer any particular question, or stop altogether at any time. Your refusal to participate will not jeopardize your relationship with the Federal Government or with your department or agency.

If you have questions about the study or about your participation in it, information for contacting Abt Associates researchers will be provided [Michael Shively at 617-520-3562, Sarah Kuck at 617-520-2998, or Dana Hunt at 617-349-2733]. Please note that these are toll calls.

May we begin the survey now? [If not, ask to arrange for a more convenient time. If the respondent wants to continue, read the following statement required by OMB]

Paperwork Reduction Act Notice. Under the Paperwork Reduction Act, we cannot ask you to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. We try to create forms and instructions that are accurate, can be easily understood, and which impose the least possible burden on you to provide us with information. The estimated average time to complete and file this application is 30 minutes per application. If you have comments regarding the accuracy of this estimate, or suggestions for making this form simpler, you can write to Michael Shively or Sarah Kuck at Abt Associates, 55 Wheeler St, Cambridge MA 02138. The OMB control number for this questionnaire is **1121-0265**.

Working Definitions and Examples of International Crime

International crime is not an exact legal term, but it has come to mean criminal activities extending into and violating the laws of more than one country. Most international crime involves the cross-border transfer of illicit products, services, or information, and is often driven by organized criminal groups or terrorist organizations. This survey is particularly interested in several international crimes we will describe to you in a moment. Some of these crimes – such as trafficking in weapons– have local counterparts, but please remember that this survey is only interested in these crimes to the extent that they have international connections.

For this survey, we are interested in the following:

A. Crimes Related to Homeland Security (International Terrorism)

E.g., foreign organizations attempting to disrupt or destroy domestic infrastructure; threatening or killing American citizens and residents.

B. Various kinds of international trafficking, including illicit trade in:

- humans (for forced labor or sexual exploitation)
- weapons (biological weapons, firearms, munitions, or components of weapons)
- drugs
- other, including
 - stolen art or artifacts
 - endangered animals or animal parts and products
 - stolen intellectual property (e.g., pirated CDs, counterfeit clothes or watches, other trademarked materials)

C. Illegal immigration

D. Computer Crimes Reaching Across International Boundaries

- Money laundering
- Other, including
 - Identity and information theft
 - Unauthorized access, sabotage, viruses ("hacking")
 - Internet commerce in child pornography
 - Theft and illicit transmission of intellectual property (music, books, patented materials)

E. Other international crime (open-ended, respondent provides)

Opportunities will be provided for respondent to address any international crimes of local concern, for example, extortion, corruption, bribery, or fraud occurring across international boundaries or in support of other international crime or terrorism.

SECTION A: INFORMATION ABOUT RESPONDENT, ORGANIZATION, AND JURISDICTION

Name	Date//
Jurisdiction	
Law Enforcement Agency	

- 1. Which of the following best describes your position in the agency or department? [Circle or Mark the appropriate response category]
 - 1 Chief
 - 2 Superintendent
 - 3 Sheriff
 - 4 Captain
 - 5 Lieutenant
 - 6 Investigator
 - 7 Crime analyst
 - 8 Other [SPECIFY]

2.a. How many years have you held this position in this department/agency?

				[enter number of years]	
	[If 2.a. is les: 2.b.		I year, ask 2.b and 2.c] us position?		
		2.c.	Previous agency/department?		
3.	How many tota	al years	of experience do you have in law	enforcement?	
				[enter number of years]	

SECTION B: INFORMATION ABOUT TERRORISM AND TRANSNATIONAL CRIMES IN YOUR JURISDICTION

In the next section of the survey, we will ask several questions about crime occurring in your jurisdiction within the past year, and a few questions about crime trends occurring over the past 5 years:

- 1.A. To the best of your knowledge, how many <u>investigations</u> for *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 1.B.; if 0, skip to 1.D.]
 - 1.B. To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 1.D,; if 1 or more, ask 1.C.]
 - 1.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned]
- 1.D. To the best of your knowledge, how many <u>arrests</u> for *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 1.E.; if 0, skip to 1.G.]
 - **1.E.** To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 1.G,; if 1 or more, ask 1.F.]
 - **1.F.** What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested?
- **1.G.** [If 1.A or 1.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated <u>or</u> arrested for *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization?
 - 1.H. If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]
- **1.I.** To the best of your knowledge, is *Trafficking in humans for labor and sexual exploitation* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

Increasing	1
Occuring at about the same rate	2
Decreasing	3
Don't Know	4

Yes

No

- 2.A. To the best of your knowledge, how many investigations for Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 2.B.; if 0, skip to 2.D.]
 - 2.B. To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for *Trafficking in arms, munitions*, biological weapons, or WMD involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 2.D,; if 1 or more, ask 2.C.]
 - 2.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned]
- 2.D. To the best of your knowledge, how many arrests for *Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons,* or WMD have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 2.E.; if 0, skip to 2.G.]
 - 2.E. To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for *Trafficking in arms, munitions*, biological weapons, or WMD were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 2.G,; if 1 or more, ask 2.F.]
 - 2.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested?
- 2.G. [If 2.A or 2.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated or arrested for Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization?
 - 2.H. If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]
- **2**.**I**. To the best of your knowledge, is Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

Increasing	1
Occuring at about the same rate	2
Decreasing	3
Don't Know	4



Yes



No

3.A.		best of your knowledge, how many <u>investigations</u> for <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> have been made in your ction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 3.B.; if 0, skip to 3.D.]
	3.B.	To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 3.D,; if 1 or more, ask 3.C.]
	3.C.	What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned]
3.D.		best of your knowledge, how many <u>arrests</u> for <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> have been made in your jurisdiction past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 3.E.; if 0, skip to 3.G.]
	3.E.	To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 3.G,; if 1 or more, ask 3.F.]
	3.	F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested?
3.G.	-	or 3.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated <u>or</u> d for <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization?
		Yes No
	3.H.	If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]
3.1.		best of your knowledge, is <i>Trafficking in drugs</i> increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same er the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

Increasing	1
Occuring at about the same rate	2
Decreasing	3
Don't Know	4

4.A.	endal	best of your knowledge, how many <u>investigations</u> for <i>Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art,</i> <i>ngered species, or intellectual property</i> have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year. [If umber is greater than 0, ask 4.B.; if 0, skip to 4.D.]
	4.B.	To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for <i>Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art, endangered species, or intellectual property</i> involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 4.D,; if 1 or more, ask 4.C.]
	4.C.	What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned]
4.D.	endal	best of your knowledge, how many <u>arrests</u> for <i>Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art,</i> <i>ngered species, or intellectual property</i> have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If umber is greater than 0, ask 4.E.; if 0, skip to 4.G.]
	4.E.	To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for <i>Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art, endangered species, or intellectual property</i> were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 4.G,; if 1 or more, ask 4.F.]
	4	.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested?
4.G.	arreste	a or 4.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated or d for Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art, endangered species, or intellectual rty associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization? Yes
	4.H.	If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]

4.1. To the best of your knowledge, is *Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art, endangered species, or intellectual property* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

Increasing	1
Occuring at about the same rate	2
Decreasing	3
Don't Know	4

- 5.B. To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for *Illegal immigration* involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 5.D,; if 1 or more, ask 5.C.] 5.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned] 5.D. To the best of your knowledge, how many arrests for *Illegal immigration* have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 5.E.; if 0, skip to 5.G.] 5.E. To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for *Illegal immigration* were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 5.G,; if 1 or more, ask 5.F.] 5.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested? 5.G. [If 5.A or 5.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated or arrested for *Illegal immigration* associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization? Yes No 5.H. If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]
 - 5.I. To the best of your knowledge, is *Illegal immigration* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]
 - Increasing 1 Occuring at about the same rate 2 Decreasing 3 Don't Know 4

jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 5.B.; if 0, skip to 5.D.]

To the best of your knowledge, how many investigations for *Illegal immigration* have been made in your

5.A.

jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 6.B.; if 0, skip to 6.D.] To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for *Money laundering* involved foreign 6.B. nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 6.D,; if 1 or more, ask 6.C.] 6.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned] 6.D. To the best of your knowledge, how many arrests for *Money laundering* have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 6.E.; if 0, skip to 6.G.] 6.E. To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for *Money laundering* were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 6.G,; if 1 or more, ask 6.F.] 6.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested? [If 6.A or 6.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated or 6.G. arrested for *Money laundering* associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization? Yes No If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned] 6.H.

To the best of your knowledge, how many investigations for *Money laundering* have been made in your

6.A.

6.1. To the best of your knowledge, is *Money laundering* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

Increasing	1
Occuring at about the same rate	2
Decreasing	3
Don't Know	4

7.A.	To the best of your knowledge, how many <u>investigations</u> for <i>Computer crime, such as un to networks, viruses, identity or information theft, and child pornography</i> have be jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 7.B.; if 0, skip to 3	een made in your
	7.B. To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for <i>Computer crim</i> <i>unauthorized access to networks, viruses, identity or information theft, an</i> <i>pornography</i> involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip more, ask 7.C.]	nd child
	 7.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned] 	
7.D.	To the best of your knowledge, how many <u>arrests</u> for <i>Computer crime, such as unauthor networks, viruses, identity or information theft, and child pornography</i> have been jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 7.E.; if 0, skip to be a second s	n made in your
	7.E. To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for <i>Computer crime unauthorized access to networks, viruses, identity or information theft, an pornography</i> were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 7.G,; if 1 c	nd child
	7.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested?	
7.G.	[If 7.A or 7.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals arrested for <i>Computer crime, such as unauthorized access to networks, viruses, ide information theft, and child pornography</i> associated with a known foreign terrorist group organization?	entity or
	7.H. If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned]	
7.I .	To the best of your knowledge, is <i>Computer crime, such as unauthorized access to ne</i>	etworks, viruses,

7.1. To the best of your knowledge, is *Computer crime, such as unauthorized access to networks, viruses, identity or information theft, and child pornography* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

made in your jurisdiction in the past year. [If the number is greater than 0, ask 8.B.; if 0, skip to 8.D.] 8.B. To the best of your knowledge, how many of the investigations for *Crimes related to homeland* security involved foreign nationals as suspects? [Record number; if 0, skip to 8.D,; if 1 or more, ask 8.C.] 8.C. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals investigated? [List all countries mentioned] 8.D. To the best of your knowledge, how many arrests for *Crimes related to homeland security* have been made in your jurisdiction in the past year? [If the number is greater than 0, ask 8.E.; if 0, skip to 8.G.] 8.E. To the best of your knowledge, how many individuals arrested for *Crimes related to homeland* security were foreign nationals? [Record number; if 0, skip to 8.G.; if 1 or more, ask 8.F.] 8.F. What were the countries of origin of the foreign nationals arrested? 8.G. [If 8.A or 8.D. is greater than 0] To the best of your knowledge, were the individuals investigated or arrested for *Crimes related to homeland security* associated with a known foreign terrorist group or criminal organization? Yes No 8.H. If "Yes," which groups or organizations? [List all mentioned] 8.I. To the best of your knowledge, is *Crimes related to homeland security* increasing, decreasing, or occurring at about the same rate over the past 5 years in your jurisdiction? [Circle or Mark response category]

To the best of your knowledge, how many investigations for Crimes related to homeland security have been

8.A.

1
2
3
4

SECTION C: LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONSES TO TERRORISM AND OTHER TRANSNATIONAL CRIME

1. Does your agency have in-house special units, squads, or task forces designed specifically for threats to homeland security or other international crimes?

Yes	No [If No, skip to 2]
-----	-----------------------

[If ves] List the name of the unit and tell us which types of crime it is designed to address:

Name of	Unit, Squad, or Task Force	International Crime Addressed		
1.A.i.		1.A.ii.		
1.B.i.		1.B.ii.		
1.C.i.		1.C.ii.		
1.D.i.		1.D.ii.		

2. Does your agency collaborate with other agencies in special units, squads, or task forces designed specifically for threats to homeland security or other international crimes?

Yes No [<u>If No</u> , skip to 1		Yes	No	[<u>If No</u> ,	skip	to 3]
-----------------------------------	--	-----	----	------------------	------	------	---

[If yes] List the name of the unit and tell us which types of crime it is designed to address:

Name of Unit, Squad, or Task	Affiliated Agency	International Crime Addressed	
Force			
1.A.i.	1.A.ii.	1.A.iii.	
1.B.i.	1.B.ii.	1.B.iii.	
1.C.i.	1.C.ii.	1.C.iii.	
1.D.i.	1.D.ii.	1.D.iii.	

- In the past two years, has your agency received special training to help you distinguish domestic crimes from 3a. those with international connections?
 - 3b. [If yes] From what source? [Mark all that apply]

Internal training External source(s) [If external, answer 3c]

Yes

No [If No, skip to 4]

3c. [If external] name all agencies or organizations providing the training] **4.** Does your agency have <u>protocols or guidelines</u> for referring cases of threats to homeland security or other international crimes to federal or foreign law enforcement agencies?

5.

	Yes	No
In the past year, estimate the number of FTEs your agency devoted to addressing thre or other international crimes (e.g., include all hours spent in investigation, interdiction,		5
	[Ente	er number]

6. Are there any additional resources your agency needs to prevent and respond to threats to homeland security and other international crimes?

|--|

No [If no, skip to 8]

7. We will read a short list of different kinds of law enforcement resources, and we would like you to tell us what percentage increase in each of these resources you think you would need to prevent and respond to threats to homeland security or other international crime in your jurisdiction:

		% Increase	Don't Know
Α.	Personnel		
В.	Training		
C.	Equipment		
D.	Level of cooperation with Federal law enforcement		
Ε.	Level of cooperation with State law enforcement		
F.	Level of cooperation with other local law enforcement		
G.	Level of cooperation with foreign law enforcement		

8. In the past year, approximately how many arrests of foreign nationals have been made in your jurisdiction? [*note to interviewer: this question is <u>NOT</u> restricted to transnational crime*]

[enter number of foreign nationals arrested]

SECTION D: QUESTIONS ADDRESSING LAW ENFORCEMENT RESPONES TO THREATS TO HOMELAND SECURITY AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL CRIME

1.A.	. In the past year, have you referred cases to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving Trafficking in <i>humans for labor or sexual exploitation</i> ?					
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 1.C.]		
	1.B. [If ye	es] Which agency or task force?				
1.C.		ar, have you provided information to Federal In humans for labor or sexual exploitation?	agencies or regiona	task forces involving		
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 1.E.]		
	1.D. [If ye	es] Which agency or task force?				
1.E.		ar, have you received specific alerts beyond volving <i>Trafficking in humans for labor or se</i>				
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 1.G.]		
	1.F.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?				
1.G.	In the past ve	ar, have you shared information with other lo	ocal or state law enfo	rcement agencies involving		
		n humans for labor or sexual exploitation?	Yes	No [If no, skip to 1.I.]		
	1.H.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?				
1.I.		ar, has your agency worked with foreign law enf r with a federal partner involving <i>Trafficking in</i>				
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 2.A.]		
	1.J.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?				

- 2.A. In the past year, have you referred cases to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD? No [If no, skip to 2.C.] Yes 2.B. [If yes] Which agency or task force? 2.C. In the past year, have you provided information to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD? No [If no, skip to 2.E.] Yes [If yes] Which agency or task force? 2.D. 2.E. In the past year, have you received specific alerts beyond color codes from Federal agencies or regional task forces involving Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD? Yes No [If no, skip to 2.G.] 1.F. [If yes] Which agency or task force? In the past year, have you shared information with other local or state law enforcement agencies involving 2.G. Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD? No [If no, skip to 2.1.] Yes 2.H. [If yes] Which agency or task force? 2.1. In the past year, has your agency worked with foreign law enforcement agencies or international organizations either alone or with a federal partner involving Trafficking in arms, munitions, biological weapons, or WMD? No [If no, skip to 3.A.] Yes
 - 2.J. [If yes] Which agency or task force?

3.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Trafficking in drugs?*

					Yes	No [If no, skip to 3.C.]
	3.B.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?			[]
3.C.			r, have you provided informatio r drugs?	n to Federal age	encies or regional	task forces involving
					Yes	No [If no, skip to 3.E.]
	3.D.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?			[]
3.E.			r, have you received specific ale Iving <i>Trafficking in drugs?</i>	rts beyond col	lor codes from F	ederal agencies or regional
					Yes	No [If no, skip to 3.G.]
		3.F.	[If yes] Which agency or task for	rce?		
3.G.			r, have you shared information v <i>drugs?</i>	with other local	or state law enfo	rcement agencies involving
					Yes	No [If no, skip to 3.1.]
		3.H.	[If yes] Which agency or task for	ce?		[]
3.1.			r, has your agency worked with forwwith a federal partner involving <i>Tra</i>			or international organizations
					Yes	No [If no, skip to 4.A.]
		3.J.	[If yes] Which agency or task for	ce?		ГТ

4.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Trafficking in other goods, such as stolen art, endangered species, or intellectual property?*

						Yes	No [If no, skip to 4.C.]
	4.B.	[If ye	s] Which agenc	y or task force?			
4.C.							al task forces involving tellectual property?
						Yes	No [If no, skip to 4.E.]
	4.D.	[If ye	s] Which agenc	y or task force?			
4.E.		rces inv					Federal agencies or regional gered species, or intellectual
						Yes	No [If no, skip to 4.G.]
		4.F.	[If yes] Whic	h agency or task	force?		
4.G.							forcement agencies involving
						Yes	No [If no, skip to 4.1.]
		4.H.	[If yes] Whic	h agency or task	force?		
4.I.	either a	alone or		partner involving			or international organizations ch as stolen art, endangered
						Yes	No [If no, skip to 5.A.]
		4.J.	[If yes] Whic	h agency or task	force?		

5.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Illegal immigration?*

				Yes	No [If no, skip to 5.C.]
	5.B.	[If yes	Which agency or task force?		[]
5.C.		oast yea Fration?	r, have you provided information to Fede	eral agencies or regional	task forces involving <i>Illegal</i>
				Yes	No [If no, skip to 5.E.]
	5.D.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?		
5.E.			r, have you received specific alerts beyc living <i>Illegal immigration?</i>	ond color codes from F	ederal agencies or regional
				Yes	No [If no, skip to 5.G.]
		5.F.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?		[]
5.G.			r, have you shared information with othe	r local or state law enfo	rcement agencies involving
	Illegal imm	mmg		Yes	No [If no, skip to 5.1.]
		5.H.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?		[]
5.1.			r, has your agency worked with foreign law with a federal partner involving <i>Illegal imn</i>		r international organizations
				Yes	No [If no, skip to 6.A.]
		5.J.	[If yes] Which agency or task force?		[]

- 6.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Money laundering?*
- No [If no, skip to 6.C.] Yes 6.B. [If yes] Which agency or task force? In the past year, have you provided information to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Money* 6.C. laundering? Yes No [If no, skip to 6.E.] [If yes] Which agency or task force? 6.D. 6.E. In the past year, have you received specific alerts beyond color codes from Federal agencies or regional task forces involving Money laundering? No [If no, skip to 6.G.] Yes 6.F. [If yes] Which agency or task force? 6.G. In the past year, have you shared information with other local or state law enforcement agencies involving Money laundering? No [If no, skip to 6.1.] Yes 6.H. [If yes] Which agency or task force? **6.I**. In the past year, has your agency worked with foreign law enforcement agencies or international organizations either alone or with a federal partner involving *Money laundering*? No [If no, skip to 7.A.] Yes 6.J. [If yes] Which agency or task force?

7.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *Computer crime, such as unauthorized access to networks, viruses, identity or information theft, and child pornography?*

			Yes	No [If no, skip to 7.C.]
	7.B. [lf y	es] Which agency or task force?		,
7.C.	Computer c	ear, have you provided information t rime, such as unauthorized access prnography?	a b	•
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 7.E.]
	7.D. [lfy	es] Which agency or task force?		
7.E.	task forces in	ear, have you received specific alert s volving <i>Computer crime, such as ur</i> a theft, and child pornography?	-	a
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 7.G.]
	7.F.	[If yes] Which agency or task force	9?	
7.G.	Computer c	ear, have you shared information wit rrime, such as unauthorized access prnography?		
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 7.I.]
	7.H.	[If yes] Which agency or task force	??	,
7.1.	either alone of	ear, has your agency worked with foreig or with a federal partner involving <i>Com</i> viruses, identity or information the	puter crime, such as unau	thorized access to
			Yes	No [If no, skip to 8.A.]
	7.J.	[If yes] Which agency or task force	??	

8.A. In the past year, have you **referred cases** to Federal agencies or regional task forces involving *other crimes related to homeland security?*

				Yes	No [If no, skip to 8.C.]
	8.B.	[If ye	s] Which agency or task force?		
1.C.			ar, have you provided informati ed to homeland security?	on to Federal agencies or re	egional task forces involving <i>other</i>
				Yes	No [If no, skip to 8.E.]
	8.D.	[If ye	s] Which agency or task force?		
0 F	L		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
8.E.			ar, nave you received specific a olving <i>other crimes related to</i> .		from Federal agencies or regional
				Yes	No [If no, skip to 8.G.]
		8.F.	[If yes] Which agency or task f	orce?	
8.G.					w enforcement agencies involving
	otner	crimes	related to homeland security	Yes	S No [If no, skip to 8.I.]
		8.H.	[If yes] Which agency or task f	orce?	
8.I.			ar, has your agency worked with f with a federal partner involving c		ncies or international organizations omeland security?
				Yes	No [If no, skip to Section E]
		8.J.	[If yes] Which agency or task f	orce?	

SECTION E: CONCERN ABOUT TRANSNATIONAL CRIME IN YOUR JURISDICTION

- In your opinion, to what extent are crimes related to homeland defense and other international crimes such as those we've discussed (EXCLUDING drug trafficking) considered by the <u>citizens</u> of your jurisdiction? [Circle or mark response category]
 - 1 = not a problem
 - $\mathbf{2} = a \text{ minor problem}$
 - **3** = a serious problem
 - **4** = a critical problem
 - $\mathbf{5} = \text{Don't Know}$
- In your opinion, to what extent are crimes related to homeland defense and other international crimes such as those we've discussed (EXCLUDING drug trafficking) considered by the <u>law enforcement officers</u> in your jurisdiction? [Circle or mark response category]
 - 1 = not a problem
 - **2** = a minor problem
 - **3** = a serious problem
 - 4 = a critical problem
 - 5 = Don't Know
- 3. In your opinion, how prepared is your agency to respond to homeland security issues? [Circle or mark response category]
 - 1 = very well prepared
 - **2** = well prepared
 - **3** = adequately prepared
 - 4 = somewhat unprepared
 - 5 = very unprepared
 - 6= Don't Know

SECTION F: ADDITIONAL COMMENTS

Is there any additional information about terrorism, other transnational crimes, or how law enforcement agencies respond to them that has not been covered in the survey, but that you think is important for us to know? (open ended, record response)

Thank you for participating. The information you provided will be very helpful. If you have questions about the study or wish to add information, please feel free to contact us at 617-520-3562 (Michael Shively), 617-520-2998 (Sarah Kuck), or 617-349-2733 (Dana Hunt).

DATE

DEPARTMENT

Dear TITLE & NAME:

The National Institute of Justice, the research arm of the Department of Justice, has contracted with Abt Associates to conduct a survey of a random sample of law enforcement agencies across the country regarding their experiences in dealing with transnational crimes. This survey is an information gathering exercise and not designed to look at any one agency or area, but rather to develop a better understanding about the local and state response to crimes that have cross-border implications and origins. By transnational crime we mean crimes such as terrorist activities, money laundering, identify fraud, trafficking in drugs, persons or artifacts. While some of these crimes may be outside of the local jurisdiction, like terrorism, NIJ is aware that local and state law enforcement is often the first identification point for these activities. The kinds of questions we would like to ask you would include:

- To what degree is your local law enforcement impacted by international crime?
- Who are the offenders (e.g., foreign born, local, etc.) and what types of international crime are typically committed?
- What resources are available to jurisdictions to help combat international crime and address homeland security issues?
- To what extent has working with Federal agencies helped combat international crime?
- What (if any) partnerships have been forged with Federal or foreign agencies to tackle the problem?

Our survey will focus on numerous crime types: threats to homeland security; trafficking in humans, arms, and drugs; illegal immigration; money laundering; and certain types of computer crime. In addition, the survey will explore communication between local police agencies and federal agencies.

Your participation in this survey is voluntary. You may refuse to answer any of the questions at any time during the survey. The survey will take approximately 30 minutes to complete via telephone, and the information you provide will be kept strictly confidential. We are not gathering detailed statistical information. Your participation in this survey is greatly appreciated and we will be happy to provide you with a copy of the survey and a summary of its results.

I will be contacting you shortly, but if you have any questions please contact me at **617-349-2750**; Dana Hunt, Ph.D. at 617-349-2733; or Michael Shively, Ph.D. 617-520-3562.

Sincerely, Jazmin Kellis Research Assistant



memorandum

Justice

Abt Associates Inc.

Date	June 19, 2003
Date	June 19, 2003

То

From Jazmin Kellis, Research Assistant

Subject Department of Justice Survey

As mentioned in previous correspondences, the National Institute of Justice, the research arm of the Department of Justice, has contracted with Abt Associates (<u>www.abtassoc.com</u>) to conduct a survey of a random sample of law enforcement agencies across the country regarding their experiences in dealing with transnational crimes. **The Office of Management and Budget control number for this survey is: 1121-0265.**

Although we have attempted to contact you on numerous occasions, we have not yet set up a time to do the interview. This letter was sent in order to find out why. If it is a matter of time, please note that we are more than able to accommodate your needs by doing the interview in blocks or with various knowledgeable personnel. If you are just unsure of the material in the survey and its purpose, I would be more than happy to send you some additional information as well as speak with you in order to allay these concerns. Otherwise, let's set up a time to conduct this important data collection!

Please contact me at your earliest convenience: Jazmin Kellis (voice) 617-349-2750, email: jazmin kellis@abtassoc.com, Michael Shively, Ph.D. 617-349-2733, or Dana Hunt, Ph.D. 617-520-3562.

Thank you, Jazmin Kellis, Research Assistant